
 

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

Committee Administrator:     Democratic Services Officer  (01609 767015) 
 

Monday, 16 May 2022 
Dear Councillor 
 
Notice of Meeting 
 
Meeting Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 

 
Date Tuesday, 24 May 2022 

 
Time 9.30 am 

 
Venue Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Stone Cross, Rotary Way, Northallerton, 

DL6 2UU 
 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

J. Ives. 
 
 
Dr Justin Ives 
Chief Executive 
 
To: Councillors Councillors 

R Kirk (Chairman) 
P Bardon 
 

D B Elders 
 

 
Other Members of the Council for information 
 
Note: Members of the press and public are also able to observe the meeting virtually via 
Teams.  Please click on the link on the website or dial 020 3855 5195 followed by the 
Conference ID: 637 540 683#  For further information please contact Democratic Services on 
telephone 01609 767015 or email committeeservices@hambleton.gov.uk  

Public Document Pack



Agenda 
 
  Page No 

 
 

1.  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.  Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence - The Leven, High 
Street, Stokesley  
 

3 - 88 

 Report of the Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
 

 

 Relevant Ward(s): Stokesley Ward 
 

 

3.  Matters of Urgency  
 

 

 Any other business of which not less than 24 hours’ prior notice, 
preferably in writing, has been given to the Chief Executive and which 
the Chairman decides is urgent. 
 

 

 



Annex A 

 
 

Licensing  Act  2003  
 

Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 
 

Procedure  
 
 

1. The hearing of matters will be less formal than hearings before, for instance, a 
Magistrates’ Court.  In particular, strict rules of evidence are not adhered to and 
information is not provided under oath.  Nevertheless, proceedings before the Panel 
will observe basic rules of natural justice. 

 
 
2. At the beginning of the hearing the Chairman shall:- 
 

 ask those present to introduce themselves; 
 

 explain the procedure; 
 

 ask the parties whether they wish permission for another person to appear at the 
hearing.   

 
 
3. The Panel will consider whether the public should be excluded from all or any part of 

the hearing.  This will only be done if the Panel considers that the public interest in so 
doing outweighs the public interest in the hearing taking place in public. 

 
 
4. The Panel will consider requests for permission for other persons to appear at the 

hearing.  Such permission will not be unreasonably withheld.   
 
 
5. The Chairman will ask the Senior Licensing Admin Officer to outline the background 

to the case.  The Principal Licensing Officer’s role will be to provide factual 
information to the Panel. 

 
 
6. The hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Panel (through the 

Chairman) and cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the Panel considers 
that cross-examination is required for it to consider the matter. 

 
 
7. The Chairman is likely to ask for the views of the parties in the following order:- 
 

(a) the applicant/licence holder/Notice giver (including any other persons who have 
been given permission to participate); 

 

Page 1

Agenda Annex



-  

(b) any party making representations (including any other persons who have been 
given permission to participate). 

 
 

8. The applicant/licence holder/Notice giver will be given the final opportunity to address 
the Panel. 

 
 

9. Each party will be given an equal maximum period of time in which to put forward any 
additional information requested by the Council, to question other persons (if given 
permission by the Panel) and address the Panel. 

 
 

10. The Panel may exclude disruptive persons in certain circumstances. 
 
 
11. The Panel may adjourn the hearing in certain circumstances. 
 
 
12. The Panel may ask the parties to withdraw so that it can consider its determination.  

In considering its determination, the Panel may ask its Legal Advisor to provide it with 
legal and procedural advice.  The nature of this advice will be notified to the parties. 

 
 
13. The Panel will make its determination at the end of the hearing and this will be 

confirmed in writing. 
 
 
September 2021 

Page 2



Hambleton District Council 
 
Report To: Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 
 
From: Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
 
Date: 24 May 2022 
 
Subject: Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence 
 The Leven, 27 High Street, Stokesley 
 
Portfolio Holder: Governance 
 Councillor Mrs I Sanderson 
 
Wards Affected: Stokesley Ward 
 

 
1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 This report asks the Panel to consider an application for the grant of a premises 

licence in respect of The Leven, 27 High Street, Stokesley. 
 
 
2.0 Procedure 
 
2.1 The procedure for licensing hearings is attached as an Annex to the Agenda. 
 
 
3.0 Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence 
 
3.1 According to council records a premises licence is currently in effect authorising the 

sale of alcohol and various forms of regulated entertainment between the hours of 
11.00am and 12.30am every day at The Leven, 27 High Street, Stokesley.  A copy 
of the licence is attached at Annex A. 

 
3.2 On 30 March 2022, Hambleton District Council received an application for the grant 

of a new premises licence in respect of the same premises.  The application is 
attached at Annex B. 

 
3.3 According to the applicant’s solicitor, the new application is “for a shadow premises 

licence.  The intention of the application is for it to mirror the current permission 
which is in place”.  

 
3.4 The application seeks to authorise: 
 

• Live Music   11:00 until 00:30 

• Recorded Music   11:00 until 00:30 

• Performance of Dance  11:00 until 00:30 

• Late Night Refreshment 23:00 until 00:30 

• Sale of Alcohol   11:00 until 00:30 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



3.5 The proposed activities are identical to the activities authorised by the existing 
licence.  The applicant also proposes to have all conditions from the existing licence 
imposed on the new ‘shadow licence’. 

 
3.6  On 31 March 2022, the application was forwarded to all statutory responsible 

authorities along with Stokesley Town Council and the District Councillors for 
Stokesley Ward. 

 
3.7 Applicants are required to publish a notice in a local newspaper and to display a 

brief summary of the application on an A4 size notice in a prominent position 
immediately on or outside the premises for at least 28 consecutive days. A record of 
the application was also published on the Council’s website and the full application 
was made available for inspection at the Council offices.  

 
  
4.0 Promotion of Licensing Objectives 
 
4.1 The four licensing objectives set out in the Licensing Act 2003 are:- 
 

• the prevention of crime and disorder; 

• public safety; 

• the prevention of public nuisance; 

• the protection of children from harm. 
 

4.2  The Panel must carry out its functions with a view to promoting the licensing 
objectives. 
 
 

5.0 Representations 
 
5.1 Relevant representations have been made by three local residents. Copies of the 

representations are attached at Annex C, Annex D and Annex E. The 
representations express concerns relating to noise, anti-social behaviour and crime 
and disorder. 

 
5.2 No representations have been submitted by any responsible authority.   
 
 
6.0 Policy Considerations 
 
6.1 In carrying out its licensing functions the Panel is required to have regard to:- 
 

• its Licensing Statement; 

• any guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
 

6.2 Part 5 of the Council’s Licensing Act 2003 Policy relates to premises licences and is 
attached at Annex F. 

 
6.3 Chapters 8 and 9 of the Home Office Guidance issued in April 2018 under section 

182 of the Licensing Act 2003 are attached at Annex G. 

Page 4



 
 
7.0 Determination by the Panel 
 
7.1 The Panel must, having had regard to the representations, take such of the steps 

mentioned in 7.2 as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. 

 
7.2 The steps are:- 

 

• to grant the licence as applied for (subject to any conditions consistent with the 
applicant’s operating schedule); 

• to grant the licence subject to any additional conditions that Members consider 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; or 

• to reject the whole or part of the application. 
 

 
Gary Nelson 
Director of Law and Governance 
 
 
Background papers: Hambleton District Council’s Licensing Act 2003 Policy 
 Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
 
Author ref: AH 
 
Contact: Anita Huntsman 
 Senior Licensing Officer 
 Direct Line No: (01609) 767017 
 

Page 5



Licensing Act 2003 

Premises Licence Summary 

Premises Licence Number 05_PREMC_00591 

Part 1 Premises Details 

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description, 
including Post Town, Postcode 

The Leven 
27 High Street 
Stokesley 
Middlesbrough 
TS9 5AD 

Telephone number   01642 711888 

Where the licence is time limited the dates 

N/A 

Licensable activities authorised by the licence 

Live Music 
Recorded music 
Performance of dance 
Late night refreshment 
Sale of alcohol 

Times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities 

Live Music Every Day 11:00 - 00:30 
New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 

Recorded music Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 

Performance of dance Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 

Late night refreshment Every Day  23:00 - 00:30 
New Year's eve/day  23:00 - 05:00 

Annex A

Page 6



 

 
Sale of alcohol Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
 New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 
Alcohol may be supplied to residents and their bona fide guests 24 hours a day. 
 
 
The opening hours of the premises 
 
Every Day 11:00 - 01:00  
 
The premise shall be open to residents and bona fide guests of residents 24 hours a day 
 
 
Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and / or off 
supplies 
 
Alcohol may be supplied for consumption both on and off the Premises  
 
 
Name, (registered) address of holder of premises licence 
 
MH Hospitality & Leisure Ltd 
The Leven 
27 High Street 
Stokesley 
North Yorkshire 
TS9 5AD 
 
 
Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number(where 
applicable) 
 
Registered Business Number  12595030 
 
 
Name of designated premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises the 
supply of alcohol 
 
Mr Rajinder Singh 
 
 
State whether access to the premises by children is restricted or prohibited  
 
No performance involving nudity or striptease shall take place at the Premises. 
Persons under the age of 18 shall only be permitted to the Premises if accompanied by an adult. 
All staff shall be trained not to serve alcohol to any person under 18 years of age.  Staff shall also be 
trained to request identification of any person who appears to be under the age of 18. 
A Passport, Photographic Driving Licence and a Proof of Age card agreed with the Police Authority 
shall be the form of identification accepted as proof of age. 
Signs shall be displayed on the door of the Premises stating that any person who appears under the 
age of 18 shall not be served alcohol. 
 
 

Annex A

Page 7



 

 
 

Licensing Act 2003 
 

Premises Licence  
 
Premises Licence Number  05_PREMC_00591 
 

Part 1 Premises Details 
 

Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or description, 
including Post Town, Postcode 
 
The Leven 
27 High Street 
Stokesley 
Middlesbrough 
TS9 5AD 
 
Telephone Number   01642 711888 

 
Where the licence is time limited the dates 
 
N/A  
 
 
Licensable activities authorised by the licence  
 
Live Music 
Recorded music 
Performance of dance 
Late night refreshment 
Sale of alcohol 
 
 
Times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities  
 
Live Music Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
 New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 
 
Recorded music Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
 New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 
 
Performance of dance Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
 New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 
 
Late night refreshment Every Day  23:00 - 00:30 
 New Year's eve/day  23:00 - 05:00 
 
Sale of alcohol Every Day  11:00 - 00:30 
Sale of alcohol New Year's eve/day  11:00 - 11:00 
Alcohol may be supplied to residents and their bona fide guests 24 hours a day. 
 

Annex A

Page 8



 

 
The opening hours of the premises 
 
Every Day 11:00 - 01:00  
 
The premise shall be open to residents and bona fide guests of residents 24 hours a day 
 
 
Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and / or off 
supplies 
 
Alcohol may be supplied for consumption both on and off the Premises  
 
 
 

Part 2 
 

Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of holder of 
premises licence 
 
MH Hospitality & Leisure Ltd 
The Leven 
27 High Street 
Stokesley 
North Yorkshire 
TS9 5AD 
 
 
 
Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number (where 
applicable) 
 
Registered Business Number 12595030 
 
 
Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor where the 
premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol 
 
Mr Rajinder Singh 
197 Parkside 
Darlington 
DL1 5TD 
 
 
Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by designated 
premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the supply of alcohol 
 
Personal Licence number: DL20/01302 
Licensing Authority: Darlington Borough Council 
 
 

Annex A

Page 9



 

Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions 
 
1.  For the purposes of the following condition, "security activity" means an activity to which 

paragraph 2(1)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Private Security Industry Act 2001 applies, and which is 
licensable conduct as defined by section 3(2) of that Act. 

 
If the premises licence includes a condition that at specified times one or more individuals must 
be at the premises to carry out a “security activity”, each individual required to carry out such an 
activity on the premises must: 

 
(a)  be authorised to carry out that activity by a licence granted under the Private Security 

Industry Act 2001; or 
 (b)  be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of the Act. 
 
2. If the licence authorises the exhibition of film, the admission of children to any such exhibition 

shall be restricted in accordance with: 
 

(a)  the classification of the film by the person or persons designated as the authority under 
section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984, or 

(b)  a notice given by the Licensing Authority under section 20(3) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 

Access shall not be considered restricted unless the premises or parts thereof are wholly 
enclosed from neighbouring areas (including external parts) and access can only be gained by 
means of one or more discrete point(s) of entry. 

 
3.  No supply of alcohol shall be made under the Premises Licence:- 
 

(a) at any time when there is no designated Premises Supervisor in respect of the Premises 
Licence; or 

(b) at any time when the designated Premises Supervisor does not hold a Personal Licence or 
his / her Personal Licence is suspended. 

 
4.   Every supply of alcohol under the Premises Licence shall be made or authorised by a person who 

holds a Personal Licence. 
 
5.  The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, arrange or 

participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises. 
 

An irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following activities, or substantially 
similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises.  

 
(a)  games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require or 

encourage, individuals to - 
 

(i)  drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or 
supplied on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible 
person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii)  drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise); 
 

(b)  provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted 
fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which 
carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

 
(c)  provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or reward 

the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a manner 
which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 

Annex A

Page 10



 

 
(d)  selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in the 

vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or 
glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable 
manner; 

 
(e)  dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where that 

other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability). 
 
6.   The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to customers 

where it is reasonably available. 
 
7.   The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 

verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of 
alcohol. 

 
The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that the 
supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. 

 
The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 years 
of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, before being 
served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either:- 

 
(a)  a holographic mark, or 
(b)  an ultraviolet feature. 

 
8.   The responsible person shall ensure that - 
 

(a)  where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 
following measures - 

 
(i)    beer or cider: 1/2 pint; 
(ii)   gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 
(iii)  still wine in a glass:  125 ml; and 

 
(b)  these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is 

available to customers on the premises; and  
 
(c)  where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol to 

be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available. 
 
9.   A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the 

premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 
 

For the purposes of this condition:- 
 

(a)  "permitted price" is the price found by applying the formula P = D + (D x V), where: 
 

(i)  P is the permitted price; 
(ii)  D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were 

charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; and 
(iii)  V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value 

added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; 
 

(b)  "duty" is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 

Annex A

Page 11



 

 
(c)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 

premises licence: 
 

(i)  the holder of the premises licence; 
(ii)  the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence; or 
(iii)  the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a 

licence; 
 

(d)  "relevant person" means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a club 
premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a capacity 
which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and  

 
(e)  "value added tax" means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added Tax 

Act 1994. 
 

Where the permitted price would not be a whole number of pennies, the price shall be rounded 
up to the nearest penny. 

 
Where the permitted price on a day ("the first day") would be different from the permitted price 
on the next day ("the second day") as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added 
tax, the permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol 
which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.  

 

Annex A

Page 12



 

Annex 2 – Conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule 
 
1. Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied except during permitted hours.  
 
 In this condition, permitted hours means those hours specified in part 1 of this licence but 

subject to the conditions below.  
 The above restrictions do not prohibit:-  
   
 (a) during the first twenty minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol from the 

premises unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel;  
   
 (b) the sale of supply to, or consumption by, any person residing in the licensed premises or the 

taking of alcohol from the premises by a person residing there;  
   
 (c) the ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by the vendor of 

the alcohol so ordered;  
   
 (d) the sale of alcohol to a trader or club for the purposes of the trade or club;  
   
 (e) the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen in which the sale or 

supply of alcohol is carried out under the authority of the Secretary of State or an authorised 
mess of members of Her Majesty’s naval, military or air forces;  

   
 (f) the taking of alcohol from the premises by a person residing there; or  
   
 (g) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to any private friends of a person 

residing there who are bona fide entertained by him at his own expense,   
   
 or the consumption of  alcohol by persons so supplied; or  
   
 (h) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to persons employed there for the 

purposes of the business carried on by the holder of the licence, or the consumption of liquor so 
supplied, if the liquor is supplied at the expense of their employer or of the person carrying on 
or in charge of the business on the premises. 

 
2. No demonstration of hypnotism shall be allowed on the Premises without the prior approval of 

the Licensing Authority. 
 
3. Licensable activities shall cease at 22.30 until the following day in the Garden Restaurant 
 
4. No performance involving nudity or striptease shall take place at the Premises. 
 
5. The premise shall be open to residents and bona fide guests of residents 24 hours a day 
 
6. No person who is drunk or disorderly shall be allowed on the Premises. 
 
7. The Licensee shall operate on the Premises a proof of age scheme approved by the Police 

Authority ensuring that no person under the age of 18 is sold intoxicating liquor 
 
8. Any customer who behaves inappropriately shall be barred from the Premises. 
 
9. An incident book shall be kept at the Premises in which all incidents of crime and disorder shall 

be recorded. 
 
10. The Licensee shall ensure that all staff who work behind the bar are fully trained to ensure that 

no person who is drunk or disorderly or who appears to be under the age of 18 is served with 
alcohol. 

Annex A

Page 13



 

 
11. The Premises shall have a Fire Evacuation Plan that has been agreed with the Fire Authority. 
 
12. The Licensee shall ensure that all staff receive training on the safe evacuation of the Premises in 

the event of an emergency. 
 
13. Access shall be provided for the emergency services which shall be kept clear and free from 

obstruction at all times. 
 
14. An adequate and appropriate supply of First Aid equipment and materials shall be available on 

the Premises at all times. 
 
15. No lasers, smoke machines or strobe lighting shall be used on the Premises without prior 

approval of the Licensing Authority. 
 
16. The placing of refuse into any bins shall take place at times that shall minimise disturbance to 

local residents. 
 
17. Noxious smells shall not be permitted so as to cause a nuisance to nearby local residents. 
 
18. Any lighting on or outside the Premises shall not cause a nuisance to any nearby residents. 
 
19. Persons under the age of 18 shall only be permitted to the Premises if accompanied by an adult. 
 
20. All staff shall be trained not to serve alcohol to any person under 18 years of age.  Staff shall 

also be trained to request identification of any person who appears to be under the age of 18. 
 
21. A Passport, Photographic Driving Licence and a Proof of Age card agreed with the Police 

Authority shall be the form of identification accepted as proof of age. 
 
22. Signs shall be displayed on the door of the Premises stating that any person who appears under 

the age of 18 shall not be served alcohol. 
 
23. The external Garden Restaurant shall be covered by CCTV camera 
 
24. When the external bar is open it shall be supervised 
 
25. When the external bar is not in operation any alcohol shall be either removed from the bar or 

secured in such a way that the public cannot get access to it 
 
26. The Licensee shall maintain suitable and sufficient sound attenuation throughout the whole 

building. 
 
Maximum number of persons present at any one time 150 Ground Floor  
 
 

Annex A

Page 14



 

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authority 

1. There shall be no more than 26 functions per calendar year in the Riverbank Garden. 

2. The Riverbank Garden shall not be accessible after 21.00 hours. 

3. The Riverbank Garden shall not be used after 21.00 hours. 

4. The Riverbank Garden shall only be used for functions. 

 

 
 

Annex A

Page 15



 

Annex - 4 Plans 
 

 

Annex A

Page 16



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Hambleton
Application for a premises licence
Licensing Act 2003

For help contact

info@hambleton.gov.uk

Telephone: 01609 779977 

* required information

Section 1 of 21

You can save the form at any time and resume it later. You do not need to be logged in when you resume.

System reference Not Currently In Use This is the unique reference for this 
application generated by the system.

Your reference MEF/SPV1/1 You can put what you want here to help you 
track applications if you make lots of them. It 
is passed to the authority.

Are you an agent acting on behalf of the applicant?

Yes No

Put "no" if you are applying on your own 
behalf or on behalf of a business you own or 
work for.

Applicant Details

* First name Riaz

* Family name Hameed

* E-mail rh345@icloud.com

Main telephone number 07506186204 Include country code.

Other telephone number

Indicate here if the applicant would prefer not to be contacted by telephone

Is the applicant:

Applying as a business or organisation, including as a sole trader

Applying as an individual

A sole trader is a business owned by one 
person without any special legal structure.  
Applying as an individual means the 
applicant is applying so the applicant can be 
employed, or for some other personal reason, 
such as following a hobby.

Applicant Business
Is the applicant's business 
registered in the UK with 
Companies House?

Yes No Note: completing the Applicant Business 
section is optional in this form.

Registration number 13447575

Business name SPV Capitol Ltd
If the applicant's business is registered, use 
its registered name.

VAT number - NONE Put "none" if the applicant is not registered 
for VAT.

Legal status Private Limited Company

Annex B

Page 17



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Applicant's position in the 
business Director

Home country United Kingdom
The country where the applicant's 
headquarters are.

Registered Address

Building number or name 10

Street Exchange Walk

District Wilson Street

City or town Middlesbrough

County or administrative area

Postcode TS1 1RY

Country United Kingdom

Address registered with Companies House.

Agent Details

* First name Matthew

* Family name Foster

* E-mail mfoster@mincoffs.co.uk

Main telephone number 0191 2127702 Include country code.

Other telephone number 07837101847

Indicate here if you would prefer not to be contacted by telephone

Are you:

An agent that is a business or organisation, including a sole trader

A private individual acting as an agent

A sole trader is a business owned by one 
person without any special legal structure.

Agent Business
Is your business registered in 
the UK with Companies 
House?

Yes No Note: completing the Applicant Business 
section is optional in this form.

Registration number OC307899

Business name Mincoffs Solicitors LLP
If your business is registered, use its 
registered name.

VAT number GB 177641928 Put "none" if you are not registered for VAT.

Legal status Limited Liability Partnership

Annex B

Page 18



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Your position in the business Partner

Home country United Kingdom
The country where the headquarters of your 
business is located.

Agent Registered Address

Building number or name 5

Street Osborne Terrace

District Jesmond

City or town Newcastle upon Tyne

County or administrative area Tyne and Wear

Postcode NE2 1SQ

Country United Kingdom

Address registered with Companies House.

Section 2 of 21

PREMISES DETAILS

I/we, as named in section 1, apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises 
described in section 2 below (the premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the relevant licensing authority 
in accordance with section 12 of the Licensing Act 2003.

Premises Address

Are you able to provide a postal address, OS map reference or description of the premises?

Address OS map reference Description

Postal Address Of Premises

Building number or name The Leven Hotel

Street 27 High Street

District Stokesley

City or town Middlesbrough

County or administrative area

Postcode TS9 5AD

Country United Kingdom

Further Details

Telephone number

Non-domestic rateable 
value of premises (£) 51,250

Annex B

Page 19



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Section 3 of 21

APPLICATION DETAILS

In what capacity are you applying for the premises licence?

An individual or individuals

A limited company / limited liability partnership

A partnership (other than limited liability)

An unincorporated association

Other (for example a statutory corporation)

A recognised club

A charity

The proprietor of an educational establishment

A health service body

A person who is registered under part 2 of the Care Standards Act 

2000 (c14) in respect of an independent hospital in Wales

A person who is registered under Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2008 in respect of the carrying on of a regulated 
activity (within the meaning of that Part) in an independent hospital in 
England

The chief officer of police of a police force in England and Wales

Confirm The Following

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves 
the use of the premises for licensable activities

I am making the application pursuant to a statutory function

I am making the application pursuant to a function discharged by 
virtue of Her Majesty's prerogative

Section 4 of 21

NON INDIVIDUAL APPLICANTS

Provide name and registered address of applicant in full. Where appropriate give any registered number. In the case of a 
partnership or other joint venture (other than a body corporate), give the name and address of each party concerned.

Non Individual Applicant's Name

Name SPV Capitol Ltd

Details

Registered number (where 
applicable) 13447575

Description of applicant (for example partnership, company, unincorporated association etc)

Annex B

Page 20



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Private Limited Company

Address

Building number or name 10 Exchange Walk

Street Wilson Street

District

City or town Middlesbrough

County or administrative area

Postcode TS1 1RY

Country United Kingdom

Contact Details

E-mail rh345@icloud.com

Telephone number 07506186204

Other telephone number

* Date of birth 14 / 11 / 1973
 dd               mm             yyyy

* Nationality British
Documents that demonstrate entitlement to 
work in the UK

Add another applicant

Section 5 of 21

OPERATING SCHEDULE

When do you want the 
premises licence to start? 28 / 04 / 2022

 dd               mm             yyyy

If you wish the licence to be 
valid only for a limited period, 
when do you want it to end

/ /
 dd               mm             yyyy

Provide a general description of the premises

For example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any other information which could be relevant to the 
licensing objectives. Where your application includes off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place for 
consumption of these off- supplies you must include a description of where the place will be and its proximity to the 
premises.

The premises is the The Leven Hotel

Annex B

Page 21



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

If 5,000 or more people are 
expected to attend the 
premises at any one time, 
state the number expected to 
attend

Section 6 of 21

PROVISION OF PLAYS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing plays?

Yes No

Section 7 of 21

PROVISION OF FILMS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing films?

Yes No

Section 8 of 21

PROVISION OF INDOOR SPORTING EVENTS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing indoor sporting events?

Yes No

Section 9 of 21

PROVISION OF BOXING OR WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENTS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing boxing or wrestling entertainments?

Yes No

Section 10 of 21

PROVISION OF LIVE MUSIC

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing live music?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Annex B

Page 22



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

WEDNESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Will the performance of live music take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 
structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 
include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 
exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the performance of live music at different times from those listed 
in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

The hours will be extended from the finish time on New Years Eve to the start time on New Years Day.

Annex B

Page 23



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Section 11 of 21

PROVISION OF RECORDED MUSIC

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing recorded music?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Will the playing of recorded music take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 
structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 
include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 
exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

Annex B

Page 24



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

State any seasonal variations for playing recorded music

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the playing of recorded music at different times from those listed 
in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

The hours will be extended from the finish time on New Years Eve to the start time on New Years Day.

Section 12 of 21

PROVISION OF PERFORMANCES OF DANCE

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing performances of dance?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Annex B

Page 25



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

SATURDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Will the performance of dance take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 
structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 
include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 
exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the performance of dance at different times from those listed in 
the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

The hours will be extended from the finish time on New Years Eve to the start time on New Years Day.

Section 13 of 21

PROVISION OF ANYTHING OF A SIMILAR DESCRIPTION TO LIVE MUSIC, RECORDED MUSIC OR PERFORMANCES OF 
DANCE

See guidance on regulated entertainment
Will you be providing anything similar to live music, recorded music or 
performances of dance?

Yes No

Section 14 of 21

LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT

Will you be providing late night refreshment?

Yes No

Annex B

Page 26



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 23:00 End 00:30

Start End

Will the provision of late night refreshment take place indoors or outdoors or 
both?

Indoors Outdoors Both Where taking place in a building or other 
structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 
include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 
exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

State any seasonal variations

Annex B

Page 27



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the supply of late night refreshments at different times from 
those listed in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

The hours will be extended from the finish time on New Years Eve to the start time on New Years Day.

Section 15 of 21

SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

Will you be selling or supplying alcohol?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Annex B

Page 28



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

SUNDAY

Start 11:00 End 00:30

Start End

Will the sale of alcohol be for consumption:

On the premises Off the premises Both

If the sale of alcohol is for consumption on 
the premises select on, if the sale of alcohol 
is for consumption away from the premises 
select off. If the sale of alcohol is for 
consumption on the premises and away 
from the premises select both.

State any seasonal variations

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the supply of alcohol at different times from those listed in the 
column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

The hours will be extended from the finish time on New Years Eve to the start time on New Years Day.

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the 
licence as premises supervisor

Name

First name None as applying for a shadow licence

Family name

Date of birth / /
 dd               mm             yyyy

Annex B

Page 29



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Enter the contact's address

Building number or name

Street

District

City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

Country United Kingdom

Personal Licence number 
(if known)

Issuing licensing authority 
(if known)

PROPOSED DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR CONSENT

How will the consent form of the proposed designated premises  supervisor 
be supplied to the authority? 

Electronically, by the proposed designated premises supervisor

As an attachment to this application

Reference number for consent 
form (if known)

If the consent form is already submitted, ask 
the proposed designated premises 
supervisor for its 'system reference' or 'your 
reference'.

Section 16 of 21

ADULT ENTERTAINMENT

Highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, or other entertainment or matters ancillary to the use of the 
premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children

Give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the premises which may give 
rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend children to have access to the premises, for example 
(but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age groups etc gambling machines etc.

None

Section 17 of 21

HOURS PREMISES ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

Annex B

Page 30



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

TUESDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 11:00 End 01:00

Start End

State any seasonal variations

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises to be open to the members and guests at different times from 
those listed in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

The hours will be extended from the finish time on New Years Eve to the start time on New Years Day.

Section 18 of 21

LICENSING OBJECTIVES

Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives:

a) General – all four licensing objectives (b,c,d,e)

Annex B

Page 31



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

List here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

Please see attached conditions which duplicate the conditions on the existing premises licence.

b) The prevention of crime and disorder

c) Public safety

d) The prevention of public nuisance

e) The protection of children from harm

Section 19 of 21

NOTES ON DEMONSTRATING ENTITLEMENT TO WORK IN THE UK

Annex B

Page 32



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Entitlement to work/immigration status for individual applicants and applications from partnerships which are not 
limited liability partnerships:  
A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is resident in the UK who:  

 • does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or  
 • is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable 
 activity.  

Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will become invalid if the holder 
ceases to be entitled to work in the UK.  
Applicants must demonstrate that they have an entitlement to work in the UK and are not subject to a condition preventing 
them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. They do this in one of two ways: 1) by providing 
with this application copies or scanned copies of the documents listed below (which do not need to be certified), or 2) by 
providing their 'share code' to enable the licensing authority to carry out a check using the Home Office online right to work 
checking service (see below). 
Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK 

 • An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport as the child of the 
 holder, is A British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies having the right of abode in the UK [please see 
 note below about which sections of the passport to copy].  

 • An expired or current passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a person named in the passport 
 as the child of the holder, is a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the Home Office to a national 
 of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  
 • A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a national of a European  
 Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the 
 holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their  
 stay in the UK. 

 • A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration control, is allowed to stay 
 indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK. 

• A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder with an endorsement 
 indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK or has no time limit on their stay in 
 the UK, when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National  
 Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.  

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK, when produced in combination with an official document 
 giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency 
 or a previous employer. 

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or Ireland when produced in  
 combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their  
 name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

• A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in combination with an 
 official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a  
 Government agency or a previous employer. 

Annex B

Page 33



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and is currently allowed to 
 work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a  
 licensable activity.   
• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the 
 holder which indicates that the named person can currently stay in the UK and is allowed to work relation to  
 the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

• A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a national of a European Economic  
 Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights or 
 residence. 

• A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home Office to the holder  
 with an endorsement indicating that the named person may stay in the UK, and is allowed to work and is not  
 subject  to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity  
 when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance  
 number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

• A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office under regulation 18(3) or 20(2)  
 of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016, to a  person who is not a national of a  
 European Economic Area  state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has  
 derivative rights of residence.  

• Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their permission to be in the UK  
 with the Home Office such as the Home Office acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or  
 reasonable evidence that the person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration  
 decision, such as an appeal or administrative review reference number. 

• Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of a European Economic Area state or Switzerland but  
 who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights of residence in exercising treaty rights in 
 the UK including:-  

• evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,  
• evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family member – e.g. a marriage  
 certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth certificate, and 
• evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of permanent residence in the UK or is one  
 of the following if they have been in the UK for more than 3 months: 

(i) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the employer, 
(ii) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a bank, 
(iii) studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence of sufficient funds; or 
(iv) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements. 

Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially independent must also provide 
evidence that the European Economic Area national and any family members hold comprehensive sickness insurance in the 
UK. This can include a private medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or S3 form. 
Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a passport, a copy of the 
following pages should be provided:- 
(i) any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality; 
(ii) any page containing the holder’s photograph; 
(iii) any page containing the holder’s signature; 
(iv) any page containing the date of expiry; and 
(v) any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or remain in the UK and is permitted to 
work.  
 

Annex B

Page 34



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided. 
Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve us checking your immigration 
status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share information with the Home Office. Your licence application will not be 
determined until you have complied with this guidance.  
  
 Home Office online right to work checking service 
  
As an alternative to providing a copy of the documents listed above, applicants may demonstrate their right to work by 
allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check with the Home Office online right to work checking service.  
  
To demonstrate their right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service, applicants should include in 
this application their 9-digit share code (provided to them upon accessing the service at https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-
to-work) which, along with the applicant's date of birth (provided within this application), will allow the licensing authority 
to carry out the check.  
  
In order to establish the applicant's right to work, the check will need to indicate that the applicant is allowed to work in the 
United Kingdom and is not subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a 
licensable activity. 
  
An online check will not be possible in all circumstances because not all applicants will have an immigration status that can 
be checked online. The Home Office online right to work checking service sets out what information and/or documentation 
applicants will need in order to access the service. Applicants who are unable to obtain a share code from the service 
should submit copy documents as set out above.  
 

Section 20 of 21

NOTES ON REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT

Annex B

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work
https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work


© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:  

• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience  
 does not exceed 500. 

• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises  between 08.00 and  
 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the  
 screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such screening abides  
 by age classification ratings. 

• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided  
 that the audience does not exceed 1000.     

• Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman  
 wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not  
 exceed 1000. Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which combines boxing or  
 wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a boxing or wrestling entertainment rather than an  
 indoor sporting event. 

• Live music: no licence permission is required for: 
o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any premises. 
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell  
 alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a workplace that is not  
 licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.  
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,  
 community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell  
 alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the  
 performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises 
 of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500,  
 and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local  
 authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

• Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell alcohol  
 for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,  
 community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell  
 alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the  
 performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises of (i) a  
 local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 
 the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority  
 concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

Annex B

Page 36



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the  
 audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which amounts to adult entertainment remains  
 licensable. 

• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no limit on  
 audience size for:    

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the entertainment is provided 
 by or on behalf of the local authority;  
o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where the  
 entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider;  
o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is provided by or  
 on behalf of the school proprietor; and 
o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a travelling  
 circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and  
 (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

Section 21 of 21

PAYMENT DETAILS

This fee must be paid to the authority. If you complete the application online, you must pay it by debit or credit card.

Fees are determined by the non-domestic rateable value of the premises. You can find out a NNDR value of a premises via 
the website at https://www.gov.uk/calculate-your-business-rates Band A - None to 4,300 £100.00 Band B - 4,301 to 33,000 
£190.00 Band C - 33001 to 87,000 £315.00 Band D - 87001 to 125,000 £450.00 Band E - 125001 and over £635.00

* Fee amount (£) 315.00

DECLARATION
1

* I understand it is an offence, liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale, under 
section 158 of the Licensing Act 2003, to make a false statement in or in connection with this application.

1

* I understand that I must now advertise my application.
1

* I understand that if I do not comply with the requirements my application will be rejected.
1

* 

[Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a partnership which is not a limited liability partnership] I 
understand I am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I do not have the entitlement to live and work in the UK (or if I 
am subject to a condition preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity) and that my 
licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK (please read guidance note 15). The DPS 
named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK (and is not subject to conditions preventing him or her from 
doing work relating to a licensable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her proof of entitlement to work, if 
appropriate (please see note 15).

Ticking this box indicates you have read and understood the above declaration

This section should be completed by the applicant, unless you answered "Yes" to the question "Are you an agent acting on 
behalf of the applicant?”

* Full name Matt Foster

* Capacity Applicants Solicitor

* Date 30 / 03 / 2022
 dd               mm             yyyy

Add another signatory

Annex B

Page 37



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Once you're finished you need to do the following: 
1. Save this form to your computer by clicking file/save as...
2. Go back to  https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-licence/hambleton/apply-1 to upload this file and continue 
with your application.
Don't forget to make sure you have all your supporting documentation to hand.

IT IS AN OFFENCE LIABLE TO SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE 
LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION  
  
IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A PERSON TO WORK WHEN THEY 
KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF 
THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO 
CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, 
ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN 
OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE 
IS DISQUALIFIED

OFFICE USE ONLY

Applicant reference number MEF/SPV1/1

Fee paid

Payment provider reference

ELMS Payment Reference

Payment status

Payment authorisation code

Payment authorisation date

Date and time submitted

Approval deadline

Error message

Is Digitally signed

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 Next >

Annex B

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-licence/hambleton/apply-1


Annex B

Page 39



Application 

 

We are instructed by our client to apply for a ‘shadow’ premises licence.  The intention of the 
application is for it to mirror the current permission which is in place, and which is held by MH 
Hospitality & Leisure Ltd (our clients tenant).  The reason behind the application is that part of the 
value of this asset is in its status as a licensed premises.  If anything were to happen to that licence, 
which is clearly outside of our client’s control, then our client would have to reapply with no 
guarantee of obtaining the same permission.  This could therefore impact upon the value of our 
clients asset and in turn upon and lending associated with the premises.  Increasingly banks are 
becoming more cautious about leisure premises and this application is something that our client can 
do in order to alleviate those concerns.  Therefore, in order to insure against the risk of anything 
happening to the premises licence, our client has made the decision to apply for and hold their own 
premises licence.   

 

Conditions taken from the existing premises licence 

 

1.  Permitted Hours On 

Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied except during permitted hours. 

In this condition, permitted hours means those hours specified in part 1 of this licence but 
subject to the conditions below. 

The above restrictions do not prohibit:- 

(a) during the first twenty minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol from the 
premises unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel; 

(b) the sale of supply to, or consumption by, any person residing in the licensed premises or the 
taking of alcohol from the premises by a person residing there; 

(c) the ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by the vendor of 
the alcohol so ordered; 

(d) the sale of alcohol to a trader or club for the purposes of the trade or club; 

(e) the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen in which the sale or 
supply of alcohol is carried out under the authority of the Secretary of State or an authorised 
mess of members of Her Majesty’s naval, military or air forces; 

(f) the taking of alcohol from the premises by a person residing there; or 

(g) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to any private friends of a person 
residing there who are bona fi de entertained by him at his own expense, or the consumption of 
alcohol by persons so supplied; or 

(h) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to persons employed there for the 
purposes of the business carried on by the holder of the licence, or the consumption of liquor so 

Annex B

Page 40



supplied, if the liquor is supplied at the expense of their employer or of the person carrying on or 
in charge of the business on the premises. 

2. Hypnotism 

No demonstration of hypnotism shall be allowed on the Premises without the prior approval of 
the Licensing Authority. 

3. Licensable activities 22.30 Garden Rest 

Licensable activities shall cease at 22.30 until the following day in the Garden Restaurant 

4. No nudity etc 

No performance involving nudity or striptease shall take place at the Premises. 

5. 24 hours residents 

The premise shall be open to residents and bona fide guests of residents 24hours a day 

6. Drunk and disorderly 

No person who is drunk or disorderly shall be allowed on the Premises. 

7. Proof of Age 

The Licensee shall operate on the Premises a proof of age scheme approved by the Police 
Authority ensuring that no person under the age of 18 is sold intoxicating liquor 

8. Inappropriate Behaviour 

Any customer who behaves inappropriately shall be barred from the Premises. 

9. Incident Book 

An incident book shall be kept at the Premises in which all incidents of crime and disorder shall 
be recorded. 

10. Trained Staff Behind The Bar 

The Licensee shall ensure that all staff who work behind the bar are fully trained to ensure that 
no person who is drunk or disorderly or who appears to be under the age of 18 is served with 
alcohol. 

11. Fire Evacuation 

The Premises shall have a Fire Evacuation Plan that has been agreed with the Fire Authority. 

12. Plan Staff Trained in Evacuation Procedures 

The Licensee shall ensure that all staff receive training on the safe evacuation of the Premises in 
the event of an emergency. 

13. Emergency Services Access 

Access shall be provided for the emergency services which shall be kept clear and free from 
obstruction at all times. 

14. First Aid 

Annex B

Page 41



An adequate and appropriate supply of First Aid equipment and materials shall be available on 
the Premises at all times. 

15. Approval for Smoke Machines etc 

No lasers, smoke machines or strobe lighting shall be used on the Premises without prior 
approval of the Licensing Authority. 

16. Refuse 

The placing of refuse into any bins shall take place at times that shall minimise disturbance to 
local residents. 

17. Noxious Smells 

Noxious smells shall not be permitted so as to cause a nuisance to nearby local residents. 

18. Outside lighting 

Any lighting on or outside the Premises shall not cause a nuisance to any nearby residents. 

19. Under 18s 

Persons under the age of 18 shall only be permitted to the Premises if accompanied by an adult. 

20. Under 18 Staff Training 

All staff shall be trained not to serve alcohol to any person under 18 years of age. Staff shall also 
be trained to request identification of any person who appears to be under the age of 18. 

21. Proof of Age Scheme 

A Passport, Photographic Driving Licence and a Proof of Age card agreed with the Police 
Authority shall be the form of identification accepted as proof of age. 

22. Signs Under 18 

Signs shall be displayed on the door of the Premises stating that any person who appears under 
the age of 18 shall not be served alcohol. 

23. CCTV Garden Restaurant  

The external Garden Restaurant shall be covered by CCTV camera 

24. Supervision when external bar is open 

When the external bar is open it shall be supervised 

25. Remove alcohol from external bar 

When the external bar is not in operation any alcohol shall be either removed from the bar or 
secured in such a way that the public cannot get access to it 

26. Sound Attenuation 

The Licensee shall maintain suitable and sufficient sound attenuation throughout the whole 
building. 

27. Garden shall not be used after 21.00 

Annex B

Page 42



The Riverbank Garden shall not be used after 21.00 hours. 

28. Garden shall not be accessible after 21:00 

The Riverbank Garden shall not be accessible after 21.00 hours. 

29. Garden shall only be used for functions 

The Riverbank Garden shall only be used for functions. 

30. 26 functions per calendar year in the garden 

There shall be no more than 26 functions per calendar year in the Riverbank Garden. 

Annex B

Page 43



1

Anita Huntsman

From:
Sent: 31 March 2022 16:29
To: Licensing Team
Subject: Objection to Licence Application - 22_PREM_00131 - The Leven, Stokesley

Importance: High

Categories: Anita

Hi 

I have tried to submit an objection on the planning portal to the above application, however, I keep getting an error 
message saying there is a technical issue.  

Please can you add my objection as follows to the application: 

I strongly object to this licence application as a nieghbouring resident on Levenside: 
Angela Graham 

Stokesley TS9 5AR 

The premises are located on the High Street and run down Golden Lion Mews to Levenside, which 
is residential and part of the conservation area, unlike the front of the premises which are on the 
main High Street.  
Most of the activity from patrons is at the rear of the premises in the function room and gardens 
and including the riverbank which is open to the riverside walk which is used by families and 
visitors to enjoy the riverside setting and wildlife.  

For the last 4 years we have experienced very high levels of noise from music and live 
entertainment, being played inside and outside the premises.  
Anti social behaviour is excessive, we regularly experience people urinating  at the rear of the 
Leven into the river, and people wandering into residents gardens urinating. 

Drug dealing has also been seen on and around the premises by patrons. 

Loud shouting, foul language, fighting and aggressive behaviour is also an issue. 

Numerous incidents have been reported to the Police who have attended the premises on a 
number of occasions.  

Please, please, consider the residents -  music and events must be contained inside the premises 
not in the gardens and on the riverbank at any time.  

There is a significant planned investment in upgrading the riverside area along Levenside, to 
encourage locals and visitors to enjoy this area of the town, if this application is allowed no one 
will want to visit this area, this area of the town has gained a bad  reputation over the last few 
years as a direct result of the activity at The Leven.  

Please consult directly with residents, a meeting would be appreciated. 

I would be grateful if you could confirm receipt of this email and that the objection has been noted against the 
application. 

Annex C

Page 44



1

Anita Huntsman

From: planning@hambleton.gov.uk
Sent: 01 April 2022 15:57
To: Licensing Team
Subject: Comments for Licensing Application 22_PREM_00131

Categories: Anita

Licensing Application comments have been made. A summary of the comments is provided below. 

Comments were submitted at 3:57 PM on 01 Apr 2022 from Mrs Angela Graham. 

Application Summary 

Address: The Leven 27 High Street Stokesley Middlesbrough North 
Yorkshire TS9 5AD  

Proposal: Premise Licence  

Case Officer: Mrs Anita Huntsman  

Click for further information  

 

Customer Details 

Name: Mrs Angela Graham 

Email:  

Address: Levenside, Stokesley Middlesbrough, 
North Yorkshire TS9 5AR 

 

Comments Details 

Commenter 
Type: Neighbour observations 

Stance: Customer objects to the Licensing Application 

Reasons for 
comment: 

 

Comments: 3:57 PM on 01 Apr 2022 I strongly object to this licence 
application. 
 
The premises are located on the High Street and run 
down Golden Lion Mews to Levenside, which is 
residential and part of the conservation area, unlike the 
front of the premises which are on the main High Street.  
Most of the activity from patrons is at the rear of the 
premises in the function room and gardens and including 
the riverbank which is open to the riverside walk which is 
used by families and visitors to enjoy the riverside 
setting and wildlife.  
 
For the last 4 years we have experienced very high 
levels of noise from music and live entertainment, being 
played inside and outside the premises.  
Anti social behaviour is excessive, we regularly 
experience people urinating at the rear of the Leven into 
the river, and people wandering into residents gardens 

Annex C

Page 45



2

urinating. 
 
Drug dealing has also been seen on and around the 
premises by patrons. 
 
Loud shouting, foul language, fighting and aggressive 
behaviour is also an issue.  
 
Numerous incidents have been reported to the Police 
who have attended the premises on a number of 
occasions.  
 
Please, please, consider the residents - music and events 
must be contained inside the premises not in the 
gardens and on the riverbank at any time.  
 
There is a significant planned investment in upgrading 
the riverside area along Levenside, to encourage locals 
and visitors to enjoy this area of the town, if this 
application is allowed no one will want to visit this area, 
this area of the town has gained a bad reputation over 
the last few years as a direct result of the activity at The 
Leven.  
 
Please consult directly with residents, a meeting would 
be appreciated. 

 

Annex C

Page 46



Notes from Lucy Mair to accompany comments on Licensing application 
22_PREM_00131The Leven 27 High Street Stokesley 

Stance: Object 
Commenter Type: Member of the Public 

As on a previous occasion with regard to a different establishment, my objection to this 
application is principally with regard to noise disturbance but also with regard to the potential 
impact on the environment of Levenside and indeed, the town itself.  The main questions I have 
with regard to this application are as follows:

1. Has sufficient market research been provided by the business to support the requirement for
such a licence with outdoor live or piped music every day until 12.30 am?
2. Has thought been given to how the continued extension of music and licensed premises might
encourage the drug problem that the local police already acknowledge exists on Levenside?  This
development could have a serious effect on the safety of Stokesley residents who regularly use
Levenside for dog walking, taking children out, sitting by the river, etc.  Surely the council
understands that late night licences likely result in increased antisocial behaviour at any time of
day as well as  increased litter, needles, broken glass - all off which are a danger to children - and
many of the local school children regularly walk along Levenside.
3. Why have local residents not been consulted prior to the licence application being made?
4. Has the council understood the impact of no less than 3 establishments with external areas
facing onto Levenside playing live or piped music?
5. Why is the council on one hand encouraging the development of Levenside with the recent
river bank and bridge improvement planning grant but on the other, considering the granting of a
licence which will negatively affect this attractive environment?
6. Why has the council not considered requesting any establishment seeking the grant of a late
night music licence, the imposition of noise limiting technology on any amplified music system?
7. How does the council work with local businesses and residents in the longer term to ensure
that Stokesley remains a place which attracts visitors while at the same time being a pleasant and
peaceful place to live?
8. Ultimately, is this license application safe and suitable for a key area of Stokesley?

Annex D

Page 47



Annex E

Page 48



21 

PART 5:  
PREMISES LICENCES 

Annex F

Page 49



 
22 

 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
5.1.1 A premises licence authorises the use of any premises (any vehicle, vessel or 

moveable structure or any place or a part of any premises) for licensable activities. 
 
5.1.2 Railway vehicles and aircraft engaged on journeys are exempted from the 

requirement to have an authorisation to carry on licensable activities (although a 
magistrates’ court can make an order to prohibit the sale of alcohol on a railway 
vehicle if this is appropriate to prevent disorder). Stationary aircraft and railway 
carriages used as restaurants and bars are subject to the provisions of the 2003 Act. 

 
 
5.2 GRANT OF LICENCE39 
 
5.2.1 Subject to paragraph 5.2.2, an application for a premises licence may be made by 

anyone who carries on or proposes to carry on a business involving licensable 
activities on premises situated wholly or mainly in the district of Hambleton. 

 
5.2.2 An applicant for a premises licence must be: 

 
 one or more individuals aged 18 years or over;  
 a business; 
 a partnership; 
 a person exercising a statutory function (for example, a local authority); 
 a person exercising any function by virtue of the Royal prerogative (for 

example, a body exercising functions by virtue of a royal charter); 
 a recognised club; 
 a charity; 
 an educational institution; 
 a health body in the public and private sector; or 
 the police 

 
5.2.3 An application for the grant of a premises licence must be accompanied by:  
 

 the requisite fee;  
 an operating schedule (see below); 
 a plan of the premises (see paragraph 5.12);  
 proof of the applicant’s right to work in the UK (see paragraph 5.15); and 
 a form of consent from the individual who is to be specified in the licence as 

the designated premises supervisor (only if the application involves the supply 
of alcohol). 

 
5.2.4 An application for the grant of a premises licence must be advertised: 
 

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and 

 on the premises for a period of 28 days (see Annex D for more information). 
 

 
 
 
 
                                                            
39 Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Annex F

Page 50



 
23 

 

5.3 VARIATION OF LICENCE40 
 
5.3.1  The holder of a premises licence may apply for a variation of the licence. An 

application for a variation of a premises licence must be accompanied by:  
 

 the requisite fee;  
 an operating schedule (see paragraph 5.13); 
 the existing premises licence; and 
 if the variation relates to any structural alterations, a plan of the premises (see 

paragraph 5.12);  
 
5.3.2 An application for the variation of a premises licence must be advertised: 
 

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and 

 on the premises for a period of 28 days (see Annex D for more information). 
 
 
5.4 MINOR VARIATION41  
 
5.4.1 The Act allows for a simplified procedure for varying a licence where the changes 

cannot have an adverse effect on the licensing objectives. 
 
5.4.2 Changes to the structure of the premises will not fall within the definition of a minor 

variation if it increases the capacity for drinking on the premises, or if it impedes the 
effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic lobby. 

 
5.4.3 An application for a minor variation of a premises licence must be accompanied by: 
 

 the requisite fee; 
 the existing premises licence; and 
 if the variation relates to any structural alterations, a plan of the premises (see 

paragraph 5.12). 
 
5.4.4 An application for a minor variation of a premises licence must be advertised on the 

premises for a period of 10 working days (see Annex D for more information). 
 
 
5.5 CHANGE OF DPS42 
 
5.5.1 A premises licence may be varied to specify an individual as designated premises 

supervisor. 
 
5.5.2 The police may object to the appointment of a new designated premises supervisor 

where, in exceptional circumstances, they believe that it would undermine the 
prevention of crime and disorder objective. 

 
 
 

                                                            
40 Section 34 of the Licensing Act 2003 
41 Section 41A of the Licensing Act 2003 
42 Section 37 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Annex F

Page 51



 
24 

 

5.5.3 An application to specify an individual as designated premises supervisor must be 
accompanied by: 

 
 the requisite fee; 
 the existing premises licence; and 
 a form of consent from the individual who is to be specified as the designated 

premises supervisor. 
 
 
5.6 TRANSFER OF LICENCE43 
 
5.6.1 Any person who may apply for the grant of a premises licence (see paragraph 5.2.2) 

may apply for a premises licence to be transferred to them. 
 
5.6.2 The police may object to the transfer of a premises licence where, in exceptional 

circumstances, they believe that the transfer would undermine the prevention of 
crime and disorder objective. 

 
5.6.3 An application for the transfer of a premises licence must be accompanied by: 
 

 the requisite fee;  
 the existing premises licence;  
 proof of the applicant’s right to work in the UK (see paragraph 5.15); and 
 a form of consent from the existing premises licence holder. 

 
 
5.7 COMMUNITY PREMISES – ALTERNATE MANDATORY CONDITION 
 
5.7.1 Where the management committee of community premises makes an application for 

the grant of a premises licence authorising the supply of alcohol, the application may 
include a request to disapply the mandatory conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of 
the Act concerning the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and 
the need for a designated premises supervisor who holds a personal licence44. 

 
5.7.2 In cases where the mandatory conditions have already been imposed on a 

community premises licence, the holder of the licence may submit an application to 
disapply the mandatory conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the Act concerning 
the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a 
designated premises supervisor who holds a personal licence45. 

 
5.7.3 An application for the mandatory conditions to be disapplied must be accompanied 

by: 
 

 the requisite fee;  
 the existing premises licence; and 
 details of the proposed arrangements to supervise alcohol sales. 

 
 

                                                            
43 Section 42 of the Licensing Act 2003 
44 Section 25A of the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 3 of the Legislative Reform 
(Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village Halls &c.) Order 2009 
45 Section 41D of the Licensing Act 2003 as inserted by article 4 of the Legislative Reform 
(Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village Halls &c.) Order 2009 

Annex F

Page 52



 
25 

 

5.8 INTERIM AUTHORITY NOTICE46 
 
5.8.1 Where a premises licence lapses due to the death, incapacity or insolvency of the 

licence holder, but no application for transfer has been received to reinstate the 
licence under section 50 of the Act, a person who has an interest in the premises 
may, during the initial 28 day period, give notice to the licensing authority in respect 
of the licence. A similar notice must also be given to the chief officer of police within 
this period. 

 
5.8.2 Where an interim authority notice is given, the premises licence is reinstated for a 

maximum period of three months from the day the notice was given to the licensing 
authority to allow for applications to transfer the licence. 

 
 
5.9 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS47 
 
5.9.1 Where premises are being or are about to be constructed, extended or otherwise 

altered for the purpose of being used for one or more licensable activities, investors 
may be unwilling to commit funds unless they have some assurance that a premises 
licence covering the desired licensable activities would be granted for the premises 
when the building work is completed. 

 
5.9.2 A business or an individual (aged 18 or over) with an interest in any particular 

premises may therefore apply for a “provisional statement”. 
 
5.9.3 An application for a provisional statement must be accompanied by:  
 

 the requisite fee;  
 a statement made by or on behalf of the applicant including particulars of the 

premises to which the application relates and of the licensable activities for 
which the premises are to be used; and 

 plans of the work being or about to be done at the premises. 
 
5.9.4 An application for a provisional statement must be advertised: 
 

 in a local publication on at least one occasion within ten working days of the 
application date; and 

 on the premises for a period of 28 days. 
 
5.9.5 When a person applies for a premises licence in respect of premises (or part of the 

premises or premises which are substantially the same) for which a provisional 
statement has been made, representations by responsible authorities and other 
persons will be excluded where: 

 
 the application for a licence is in the same form as the licence described in the 

provisional statement;  
 the work in the schedule of works has been satisfactorily completed;  
 given the information provided in the application for a provisional statement, 

the responsible authority or other person could have made the same (or 
substantially the same) representations about the application then but failed to 
do so without reasonable excuse; and  

                                                            
46 Section 47 of the Licensing Act 2003 
47 Section 29 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Annex F

Page 53



 
26 

 

 there has been no material change in the circumstances relating either to the 
premises or to the area in the proximity of those premises since the 
provisional statement was made. 

 
 
5.10 CHANGES DURING PERIOD OF LICENCE48 
 
5.10.1 The holder of a premises licence must notify the licensing authority of any changes to 

his/her name or address or that of the designated premises supervisor. 
 
 
5.11 REVIEWS49 
 
5.11.1 A responsible authority or any other person may apply for a review of the licence in 

the event of any perceived failure to promote one or more of the licensing objectives. 
 
5.11.2 Reviews allow the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel, if necessary, to modify the 

licence conditions, remove the designated premises supervisor or to suspend or 
revoke all or part of the licence. 

 
5.11.3 If a review application has been made by a person other than a responsible authority 

(e.g. a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade association), the 
licensing authority must consider whether the complaint being made is frivolous, 
vexatious or repetitious. 

 
5.11.3.1 A review may be regarded as frivolous where the concerns are minor 

and no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate.  
 
5.11.3.2 A review may be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be 

intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor 
or other person, without reasonable cause or justification.  

 
5.11.3.3  A review may be considered to be repetitious if it is identical or 

substantially similar to: 
 a ground for review specified in an earlier application for 

review made in relation to the same premises licence; or 
 representations considered by the licensing authority when the 

premises licence was granted 
 

5.11.4 The licensing authority is expected to prevent review applications made merely as a 
further means of challenging the grant of the licence following the failure of 
representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier occasion. 
Accordingly, a review application in relation to a particular premises would not 
generally be permitted within a 12 month period on similar grounds unless the 
licensing authority is satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances. 

 
5.11.5 In borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of a review application 

should be given to the applicant. The subsequent hearing would then provide an 
opportunity for the person applicant to amplify and clarify the grounds for review. Any 
person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their review application may lodge a 
complaint through the council’s corporate complaints procedure or they may seek to 
challenge the authority’s decision by way of judicial review. 

                                                            
48 Section 33 of the Licensing Act 2003 
49 Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Annex F

Page 54



 
27 

 

5.11.6 Although the licensing authority may act in its capacity as a responsible authority to 
apply for a review of a premises licence, it will not normally do so on behalf of other 
persons, such as local residents or community groups. These individuals or groups 
are entitled to apply for a review in their own right if they have grounds to do so. 

 
5.11.7 Where the licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies for a 

review, it will make provision for an appropriate separation of responsibilities in order 
to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. 

 
 
5.12 PLANS OF PREMISES 
 
5.12.1 Premises plans are not required to be submitted in any particular scale, but they 

must be in a format which is “clear and legible in all material respects50” (i.e. they 
must be accessible and provide sufficient detail for the licensing authority to be able 
to determine the application, including the relative size of any features relevant to the 
application). 

 
5.12.2 There is no requirement for plans to be professionally drawn as long as they clearly 

show all of the prescribed information (see Annex B). 
 
 
5.13 OPERATING SCHEDULE 
 
5.13.1 In completing an operating schedule, applicants must describe the steps that are 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives having had regard to this 
policy. Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on 
how they will manage any potential risks. 

 
5.13.2 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before 

formally submitting an application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert 
advice on local issues that should be taken into consideration when making an 
application. 

 
 
5.14 SUBMITTING APPLICATIONS 
 
5.14.1 Applications may be submitted: 

 
 by post using the application forms available on the council’s website; 
 via email using the application forms available on the council’s website; or 
 online via www.gov.uk 

 
5.14.2 If an applicant submits any part of their application by post, the applicant will be 

responsible for sending copies to each of the appropriate responsible authorities. 
However, if an application is submitted online or via email, the licensing authority will 
be responsible for copying it to responsible authorities. 

 
 
 

                                                            
50 Regulation 23 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) 
Regulations 2005 as amended by regulation 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club 
premises certificates) (Amendment) (Electronic Applications etc) Regulations 2009 

Annex F

Page 55



 
28 

 

5.14.3 If information is missing or incorrect, the licensing authority may ‘hold’ the application 
until the applicant has supplied all of the required information. This effectively resets 
the time period for determining an application and may be done any number of times 
until the application form is complete. 

 
 
5.15 RIGHT TO WORK IN THE UK 
 
5.15.1 Individuals and partnerships (which are not limited liability partnerships) applying for 

a premises licence must be entitled to work in the UK. The Immigration Act 2016 
amended the Licensing Act 2003 with effect from 6 April 2017 so that an application 
made on or after that date by someone who is not entitled to work in the UK must be 
rejected. 

 
5.15.2 In order for the licensing authority to be satisfied that an applicant has the right to 

work in the UK, applicants must submit a copy of one of the documents listed in 
Annex E to show that the applicant has permission to be in the UK and to undertake 
work in connection with a licensable activity. 

 
5.15.3 Applicants should provide photocopies or scanned copies of the documents. Original 

documents should not be sent to the licensing authority. 
 
5.15.4 If an applicant has restrictions on the length of time they may work in the UK, a 

premises licence may still be issued, but the licence will cease to have effect when 
the right to work lapses. 

 
5.15.5 All applicants will be treated in the same way. Assumptions will not be made about a 

person’s right to work in the UK or their immigration status on the basis of their 
nationality, ethnic origin, accent, the colour of their skin, or the length of time they 
have been resident in the UK. 

 
 
5.16 DETERMINING UNCONTESTED APPLICATIONS 
 
5.16.1 In the absence of any representations in respect of any duly made application, a 

licence will be granted as applied for, subject only to any mandatory conditions and 
those conditions which form part of the operating schedule. 

 
 
5.17 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.17.1 Responsible authorities and any other persons may make relevant representations in 

respect of applications for the grant or variation of a premises licence. In these 
cases, the application will be referred to the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 
for determination. 

 
5.17.2 Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the subsequent 

hearing. Additional representations which do not amount to an amplification of the 
original representation may not be made at the hearing. 

 
 
 
 
 

Annex F

Page 56



 
29 

 

5.17.3 Any representations must relate to the likely adverse effect that granting the 
application would have on the licensing objectives. Representations about the 
commercial damage caused by competition from new licensed premises would not 
be considered relevant. Similarly, matters of morality, public health (as opposed to 
public safety) and commercial demand are not relevant matters for the licensing 
authority to consider in discharging its licensing functions. 

 
5.17.4 If a representation has been made by a person other than a responsible authority 

(e.g. a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade association), the 
licensing authority must consider whether the complaint being made is frivolous or 
vexatious. 

 
5.17.4.1 A representation may be regarded as frivolous where the concerns 

are minor and no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate.  
 
5.17.4.2 A representation may be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be 

intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor 
or other person, without reasonable cause or justification.  

 
5.17.5 In borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of a representation 

should be given to the person making representation. The subsequent hearing would 
then provide an opportunity for the person applicant to amplify and clarify the 
grounds for objection. Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their 
representation may lodge a complaint through the council’s corporate complaints 
procedure or they may seek to challenge the authority’s decision by way of judicial 
review. 

 
5.17.6 The licensing authority will accept all reasonable and proportionate representations 

made by responsible authorities unless the authority has evidence that to do so 
would not be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It remains 
incumbent on the responsible authorities to ensure that their representations can 
withstand the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a hearing51.  

 
 
5.18 HEARINGS 
 
5.18.1 The licensing authority must hold a hearing within a prescribed period where relevant 

representations are made. 
 
5.18.2 Notices will be sent to each party informing them of the date so that they may attend 

if they wish to give evidence at the hearing. 
 
5.18.3  The procedure for hearings is attached at Annex C.  
 
 
5.19 PERIOD OF VALIDITY52 
 
5.19.1 Unless it has been granted only for a limited period, a premises licence will remain 

valid until: 
 

 it is suspended; 
 it is surrendered; 

                                                            
51 9.12 of the Home Office Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (April 2018) 
52 Section 26 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Annex F

Page 57



 
30 

 

 it is revoked;  
 it lapses where the holder of the licence: 

- dies;  
- lacks capacity to hold a licence within the meaning of the Mental 

Capacity Act 2005;  
- becomes insolvent;  
- is dissolved; 
- ceases to be entitled to work in the United Kingdom; or  
- if it is a club, ceases to be a recognised club. 

 
 
5.20 APPEALS 
 
5.20.1 Any party aggrieved by the decision of the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel 

can appeal to the Magistrates’ Court. 
 
 
5.21 CONDITIONS 
 
5.21.1 Conditions on premises licences will fall into one of three categories as follows: 
 

 Mandatory conditions; 
 Conditions consistent with the applicant’s operating schedule; and 
 Conditions imposed by the Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel. 

 
5.21.2 Mandatory conditions are attached to all premises licence, where appropriate, to 

ensure that: 
 

 No supply of alcohol is made under a premises licence at a time when there 
is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises licence53; 

 No supply of alcohol is made under a premises licence at a time when the 
designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or his 
personal licence is suspended54; 

 Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence is made or authorised by 
a person who holds a personal licence55; 

 The admission of children to the exhibition of any film is restricted in 
accordance with any recommendation by the film classification body or the 
licensing authority56; 

 Any individual carrying out a security activity in accordance with a licence 
condition is authorised under the Private Security Industry Act 200157; 

 An age verification policy is adopted and implemented in relation to the sale 
or supply of alcohol58; 

 The age verification policy requires individuals who appear to the responsible 
person to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in 
the policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification 

                                                            
53 Section 19(2)(a) of the Licensing Act 2003 
54 Section 19(2)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003 
55 Section 19(3) of the Licensing Act 2003 
56 Section 20 of the Licensing Act 2003 
57 Section 21 of the Licensing Act 2003 
58 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010 

Annex F

Page 58



 
31 

 

bearing their photograph, date of birth and either a holographic mark or an 
ultraviolet feature59; 

 No alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off the premises for a 
price which is less than the permitted price60; 

 Staff do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions 
in relation to the premises61; 

 No alcohol is dispensed directly into the mouth of a customer (except when 
an individual is unable to drink without assistance due to a disability). For 
example, drinking games such as the ‘dentist’s chair’ are prohibited62; 

 Free potable water is provided on request to customers where it is reasonably 
available63; 

 The following drinks (if sold on the premises) are available in the following 
measures: 

- beer or cider - half pint 
- gin, rum, vodka or whisky - 25ml or 35ml 
- still wine in a glass - 125ml64. 

 
5.21.3 The mandatory conditions are prescribed in legislation and are subject to periodic 

change. The licensing authority will not necessarily replace licences following every 
change but the changes will be reflected when any other amendments are made by 
the licence holder. A full schedule of the current mandatory conditions will be 
maintained on the council’s website. 

 
5.21.4 Licence holders should be aware that mandatory conditions will apply to their licence, 

even if they are not printed upon it, and as such are encouraged to periodically check 
for updates to the current conditions. 

 
5.21.5 Proposals put forward by an applicant to promote the licensing objectives may, at the 

discretion of the licensing authority, be imposed on a licence in the form of clear and 
enforceable conditions. Any such conditions must be consistent with the applicant’s 
operating schedule. Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be 
substantially the same as that intended by the terms of the operating schedule 

 
5.21.6 The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel may impose additional conditions upon 

receipt of relevant representations if it is satisfied as a result of a hearing (unless all 
parties agree that a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate in order to 
promote one or more of the four licensing objectives. 

 
5.21.7 The licensing authority will be alive to the indirect costs that can arise as a result of 

conditions being imposed on premises licences. Conditions may be a deterrent to 
holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding of good and 
important causes. In any case, licensing authorities have a general responsibility to 
avoid imposing unnecessary regulatory burdens on businesses65. 
 
 
 

 
                                                            
59 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010 
60 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2014 
61 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010 
62 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010 
63 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010 
64 Schedule to the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010 
65 Regulators’ Code - Better Regulation Delivery Office – April 2014 

Annex F

Page 59



 
32 

 

5.22 PLANNING PERMISSION 
 
5.22.1 Planning permission, building control approval and licensing regimes will be properly 

separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency. 
 
5.22.2 The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different (albeit related) 

matters. The Licensing and Appeals Hearings Panel is not bound by decisions made 
by a planning committee and vice versa. 

 
5.22.3 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal 

hour has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these 
hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier 
closing time. 

 
5.22.4 Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable to 

prosecution under planning law.  
 
 
5.23 CUMULATIVE IMPACT 
 
5.23.1 “Cumulative impact” means the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing 

objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. It 
should not, however, be confused with any question of ‘need’ which relates to the 
commercial demand for a particular type of premises. The issue of ‘need’ is a matter 
for market forces to influence and for the planning authority to regulate. It is not a 
matter for the licensing authority to consider in discharging its licensing functions or 
formulating its statement of licensing policy. 

 
5.23.2 The licensing authority recognises that, in accordance with the statutory guidance, it 

may adopt a special policy in response to a cumulative impact issue in a defined 
area. Consideration of such a policy may be prompted by submissions from 
responsible authorities or other persons, evidenced appropriately and linked to one 
or more of the licensing objectives.  

 
5.23.3 The licensing authority will not seek to introduce quotas of licensed premises, nor will 

it seek to impose general limitations on trading hours in particular areas. Instead, 
consideration will be given to the individual characteristics of the premises concerned 
within a given area. 

 

Annex F

Page 60



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 49 

8. Applications for premises licences
Relevant licensing authority 

8.1 Premises licences are issued by the licensing authority in which the premises are 
situated or, in the case of premises straddling an area boundary, the licensing authority 
where the greater part of the premises is situated. Where the premises is located 
equally in two or more areas, the applicant may choose but, in these rare cases, it is 
important that each of the licensing authorities involved maintain close contact. 

8.2 Section 13 of the 2003 Act defines the parties holding important roles in the context of 
applications, inspection, monitoring and reviews of premises licences. 

Authorised persons 

8.3 The first group –“authorised persons”– are bodies empowered by the 2003 Act to carry 
out inspection and enforcement roles. The police and immigration officers are not 
included because they are separately empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out their 
duties. 

8.4 For all premises, the authorised persons include: 

• officers of the licensing authority;
• fire inspectors;
• inspectors with responsibility in the licensing authority’s area for the enforcement of

the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974;
• officers of the local authority exercising environmental health functions

8.5 Local authority officers will most commonly have responsibility for the enforcement of 
health and safety legislation, but the Health and Safety Executive is responsible for 
certain premises. In relation to vessels, authorised persons also include an inspector or 
a surveyor of ships appointed under section 256 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. 
These would normally be officers acting on behalf of the Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency. The Secretary of State may prescribe other authorised persons by means of 
regulations, but has not currently prescribed any additional bodies. If any are 
prescribed, details will be made available on the GOV.UK website. 

8.6 Where an immigration officer has reason to believe that any premises are being used 
for a licensable activity, the officer may enter the premises with a view to seeing 
whether an offence under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed in connection 
with the licensable activity.  

Responsible authorities 

8.7 The second group –“responsible authorities”– are public bodies that must be fully 
notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations to the licensing 
authority in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises 
licence. These representations must still be considered ‘relevant’ by the licensing 

authority and relate to one or more of the licensing objectives. For all premises, 
responsible authorities include: 

• the relevant licensing authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of

Annex G

Page 61



50 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

the premises is situated; 
•  the chief officer of police; 
•  the local fire and rescue authority; 
•  the relevant enforcing authority under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 
•  the local authority with responsibility for environmental health; 
•  the local planning authority; 
•  a body that represents those who are responsible for, or interested in, matters 

relating to the protection of children from harm; 
•  each local authority’s Director of Public Health (DPH) in England4 and Local Health 

Boards (in Wales);  
•  the local weights and measures authority (trading standards); and 
•   Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State). 

8.8 The licensing authority should indicate in its statement of licensing policy which body it 
recognises to be competent to advise it on the protection of children from harm. This 
may be the local authority social services department, the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board or another competent body. This is important as applications for premises 
licences have to be copied to the responsible authorities in order for them to make any 
representations they think are relevant. 

8.9 In relation to a vessel, responsible authorities also include navigation authorities within 
the meaning of section 221(1) of the Water Resources Act 1991 that have statutory 
functions in relation to the waters where the vessel is usually moored or berthed, or any 
waters where it is proposed to be navigated when being used for licensable activities; 
the Environment Agency; the Canal and River Trust; and the Secretary of State (who in 
practice acts through the Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA)). In practice, the 
Environment Agency and the Canal and River Trust only have responsibility in relation 
to vessels on waters for which they are the navigation statutory authority. 

8.10 The MCA is the lead responsible authority for public safety, including fire safety, 
affecting passenger ships (those carrying more than 12 passengers) wherever they 
operate and small commercial vessels (carrying no more than 12 passengers) which go 
to sea. The safety regime for passenger ships is enforced under the Merchant Shipping 
Acts by the MCA which operates certification schemes for these vessels. Fire and 
rescue authorities, the Health and Safety Executive and local authority health and safety 
inspectors should normally be able to make “nil” returns in relation to such vessels and 

rely on the MCA to make any appropriate representations in respect of this licensing 
objective. 

8.11 Merchant Shipping legislation does not, however, apply to permanently moored vessels. 
So, for example, restaurant ships moored on the Thames Embankment, with permanent 
shore connections should be considered by the other responsible authorities concerned 
with public safety, including fire safety. Vessels carrying no more than 12 passengers 
which do not go to sea are not subject to MCA survey and certification, but may be 
licensed by the local port or navigation authority. 

                                                
4 This change was made as a result of the commencement of measures in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which amended 
the 2003 Act and further provision in the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Arrangements, Care Trusts, Public 
Health and Local Healthwatch) Regulations 2012. 

Annex G

Page 62



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 51 

8.12 The Secretary of State may prescribe other responsible authorities by means of 
regulations. Any such regulations are published on the Government’s legislation 

website: www.legislation.gov.uk. 

Other persons 

8.13 As well as responsible authorities, any other person can play a role in a number of 
licensing processes under the 2003 Act. This includes any individual, body or business 
entitled to make representations to licensing authorities in relation to applications for the 
grant, variation, minor variation or review of premises licences and club premises 
certificates, regardless of their geographic proximity to the premises. In addition, these 
persons may themselves seek a review of a premises licence. Any representations 
made by these persons must be ‘relevant’, in that the representation relates to one or 

more of the licensing objectives. It must also not be considered by the licensing 
authority to be frivolous or vexatious. In the case of applications for reviews, there is an 
additional requirement that the grounds for the review should not be considered by the 
licensing authority to be repetitious. Chapter 9 of this guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10) 
provides more detail on the definition of relevant, frivolous and vexatious 
representations. 

8.14 While any of these persons may act in their own right, they may also request that a 
representative makes the representation to the licensing authority on their behalf. A 
representative may include a legal representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, a 
Member of the Welsh Government, or a local ward or parish councillor who can all act in 
such a capacity. 

Who can apply for a premises licence? 

8.15 Any person (if an individual aged 18 or over) who is carrying on or who proposes to 
carry on a business which involves the use of premises (any place including one in the 
open air) for licensable activities may apply for a premises licence either on a 
permanent basis or for a time-limited period. 

8.16 “A person” in this context includes, for example, a business or a partnership. Licensing 
authorities should not require the nomination of an individual to hold the licence or 
determine the identity of the most appropriate person to hold the licence. 

8.17 In considering joint applications (which is likely to be a rare occurrence), it must be 
stressed that under section 16(1)(a) of the 2003 Act each applicant must be carrying on 
a business which involves the use of the premises for licensable activities. In the case of 
public houses, this would be easier for a tenant to demonstrate than for a pub owning 
company that is not itself carrying on licensable activities. Where licences are to be held 
by businesses, it is desirable that this should be a single business to avoid any lack of 
clarity in accountability. 

8.18 A public house may be owned, or a tenancy held, jointly by a husband and wife, civil 
partners or other partnerships of a similar nature, and both may be actively involved in 
carrying on the licensable activities. In these cases, it is entirely possible for the 
husband and wife or the partners to apply jointly as applicant for the premises licence, 
even if they are not formally partners in business terms. This is unlikely to lead to the 
same issues of clouded accountability that could arise where two separate businesses 

Annex G

Page 63



52 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

apply jointly for the licence. If the application is granted, the premises licence would 
identify the holder as comprising both names and any subsequent applications, for 
example for a variation of the licence, would need to be made jointly. 

8.19 A wide range of other individuals and bodies set out in section 16 of the 2003 Act may 
apply for premises licences. They include, for example, Government Departments, local 
authorities, hospitals, schools, charities or police forces. In addition to the bodies listed 
in section 16, the Secretary of State may prescribe by regulations other bodies that may 
apply and any such regulations are published on the Government’s legislation website. 

There is nothing in the 2003 Act which prevents an application being made for a 
premises licence at premises where a premises licence is already held. 

Application forms 

8.20 The Provision of Services Regulations 2009 require local authorities to ensure that all 
procedures relating to access to, or the exercise of, a service activity may be easily 
completed, at a distance and by electronic means. Electronic application facilities for 
premises licences may be found either on GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own 

website. It remains acceptable to make an application in writing. 

Electronic applications 

8.21 Applicants may apply using the licence application forms available on GOV.UK, or will 
be re-directed from GOV.UK to the licensing authority’s own electronic facility if one is 

available. Applicants may also apply directly to the licensing authority’s facility without 

going through GOV.UK. 

Electronic applications using forms on gov.uk 

8.22 GOV.UK will send a notification to the licensing authority when a completed application 
form is available for it to download from GOV.UK. This is the day that the application is 
taken to be ‘given’ to the licensing authority, even if it is downloaded at a later stage, 

and the application must be advertised from the day after that day (as for a written 
application). The licensing authority must acknowledge the application as quickly as 
possible, specifying the statutory time period and giving details of the appeal procedure. 

8.23 The period of 28 consecutive days during which the application must be advertised on a 
notice outside the premises is, effectively, the statutory timescale by which the 
application must be determined (unless representations are made). This will be 
published on GOV.UK and must also be published on the licensing authority’s own 

electronic facility if one exists. If no representations are made during this period, the 
licensing authority must notify the applicant as quickly as possible that the licence has 
been granted. The licensing authority must send the licence to the applicant as soon as 
possible after this, but the applicant may start the licensed activity as soon as they have 
been notified that the application is granted (subject to compliance with the conditions of 
the licence). The licence may be supplied in electronic or written format as long as the 
applicant is aware which document constitutes ‘the licence’. If representations are 

made, the guidance in Chapter 9 applies. 

Requirement to copy application to responsible authorities 

8.24 The licensing authority must copy electronic applications, made via GOV.UK or its own 
facility, to responsible authorities no later than the first working day after the application 

Annex G

Page 64



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 53 

is given. However, if an applicant submits any part of their application in writing, the 
applicant will remain responsible for copying it to responsible authorities. 

Applications via the local authority electronic application facility 

8.25 Where applications are made on the licensing authority’s own electronic facility, the 

application will be taken to be ‘given’ when the applicant has submitted a complete 

application form and paid the fee. The application is given at the point at which it 
becomes accessible to the authority by means of the facility. The licensing authority 
must acknowledge the application as quickly as possible, specifying the statutory time 
period and giving details of the appeal procedure. 

‘Holding’ and ‘deferring’ electronic applications 

8.26 The Government recommends (as for written applications) that electronic applications 
should not be returned if they contain obvious and minor errors such as typing mistakes, 
or small errors that can be rectified with information already in the authority’s 

possession. However, if this is not the case and required information is missing or 
incorrect, the licensing authority may ‘hold’ the application until the applicant has 
supplied all the required information. This effectively resets the 28 day period for 
determining an application and may be done any number of times until the application 
form is complete. Licensing authorities must ensure that they notify the applicant as 
quickly as possible of any missing (or incorrect) information, and explain how this will 
affect the statutory timescale and advertising requirements. 

8.27 If an application has been given at the weekend, the notice advertising the application 
(where applicable) may already be displayed outside the premises by the time that the 
licensing authority downloads the application. It is therefore recommended that, if a 
licensing authority holds an application, it should inform the applicant that the original (or 
if necessary, amended) notice must be displayed until the end of the revised period. The 
licensing authority should also advise the applicant that they should not advertise the 
application in a local newspaper until they have received confirmation from the licensing 
authority that the application includes all the required information. To ensure clarity for 
applicants, the Government recommends that licensing authorities include similar 
advice on their electronic application facilities (where these exist) to ensure that 
applicants do not incur any unnecessary costs. 

8.28 If an applicant persistently fails to supply the required information, the licensing authority 
may refuse the application and the applicant must submit a new application. 

8.29 Licensing authorities may also ‘defer’ electronic applications once if the application is 

particularly complicated, for example if representations are received and a hearing is 
required. This allows the licensing authority to extend the statutory time period for the 
determination of the application by such time as is necessary, including, if required, 
arranging and holding a hearing. Licensing authorities must ensure that applicants are 
informed as quickly as possible of a decision to defer, and the reasons for the deferral, 
before the original 28 days has expired. 

Written applications 

8.30 A written application for a premises licence must be made in the prescribed form to the 
relevant licensing authority and be copied to each of the appropriate responsible 
authorities. For example, it would not be appropriate to send an application for premises 

Annex G

Page 65



54 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

which was not a vessel to the Maritime and Coastguard Agency. The application must 
be accompanied by: 

•  the required fee (details of fees may be viewed on the GOV.UK website); 
•  an operating schedule (see below); 
•  a plan of the premises in a prescribed form; and 
•  if the application involves the supply of alcohol, a form of consent from the individual 

who is to be specified in the licence as the designated premises supervisor (DPS). 

8.31 If the application is being made by an individual it should be accompanied by acceptable 
evidence of entitlement to work in the UK (this includes where the application is 
submitted electronically), as set out in the application form (see paragraph 4.8). 

8.32 If the application is being made in respect of a community premises, it may be 
accompanied by the form of application to apply the alternative licence condition. 

8.33 Guidance on completing premises licence, club premises certificate and minor variation 
forms can be found on the GOV.UK website. The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises 
licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 2005 contain provision about the 
prescribed form of applications, operating schedules and plans and are published on the 
legislation.gov.uk website. 

Plans 

8.34 Plans, for written and electronic applications, will not be required to be submitted in any 
particular scale, but they must be in a format which is “clear and legible in all material 

respects”, i.e. they must be accessible and provides sufficient detail for the licensing 
authority to be able to determine the application, including the relative size of any 
features relevant to the application. There is no requirement for plans to be 
professionally drawn as long as they clearly show all the prescribed information. 

Beer gardens or other outdoor spaces 

8.35 Applicants will want to consider whether they might want to use a garden or other 
outdoor space as a location from which alcohol will be consumed. The sale of alcohol is 
to be treated as taking place where the alcohol is appropriated to the contract. In 
scenarios where drink orders are taken by a member of staff in the garden or outdoor 
space and the member of staff then collects the drinks from the licensed premises and 
returns to deliver them to the customer this would be treated as an off-sale and any 
conditions that relate to off-sales would apply. 

8.36 In such cases it will be not necessary to include the garden or other outdoor space on 
the plan as part of the area covered by the premises licence. However, it will be 
necessary for the applicant to include the garden or other outdoor space on the plan as 
part of the area covered by the premises licence if the intention is to provide a service 
whereby drinks are available for sale and consumption directly from that area (i.e. the 
provision of on-sales). This would apply in the case of an outdoor bar or a service 
whereby a member of staff who is in the garden or outdoor space carries with them 
drinks that are available for sale (without the need for the staff member to return to the 
licensed premises to collect them). 

8.37 If the beer garden or other outdoor area is to be used for the consumption of off-sales 
only, there is no requirement to show it on the plan of the premises, but the prescribed 

Annex G

Page 66



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 55 

application form requires the applicant to provide a description of where the place is and 
its proximity to the premises. 

Entitlement to work in the UK 

8.38 Individuals applying for a premises licence for the sale of alcohol or late night 
refreshment must be entitled to work in the UK. From 6 April 2017 licensing authorities 
must be satisfied that an individual who applies for a premises licence is entitled to work 
in the UK. This includes applications made by more than one individual applicant. An 
application made by an individual without the entitlement to work in the UK must be 
rejected. This applies to applications which include the sale of alcohol and the 
provisions of late night refreshment, but does not include applications which apply to 
regulated entertainment only. For example, a person applying for a licence for a music 
venue who does not intend to sell alcohol or late night refreshment is not prohibited from 
applying for a licence on grounds of immigration status. However, they will commit a 
criminal offence if they work illegally.   

8.39 The documents which may be relied on in support of an application demonstrating an 
entitlement to work in the UK are the same as for personal licence applicants see 
paragraph 4.8. Where there is sufficient evidence that the applicant is not resident in the 
UK there is no requirement that the applicant has an entitlement to work in the UK. 

8.40 Where an applicant’s permission to work in the UK is time-limited the licensing authority 
may issue a premises licence for an indefinite period, but the licence will become invalid 
when the immigration permission expires. The individual’s entitlement to work in the UK 

may be extended or made permanent by the Home Office, and granting the licence for 
an indefinite period prevents the licensee from having to re-apply for a new licence.  In 
the event that the Home Office cuts short or ends a person’s immigration permission 

(referred to a curtailment or revocation), any licence issued on or after 6 April 2017 
which authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night refreshment will 
automatically lapse. As with personal licences, the licensing authority is under no duty to 
carry out on going immigration checks to see whether a licence holder’s permission to 

be in the UK has been brought to an end. For further details on entitlement to work see 
paragraphs 4.8 to 4.18.    

Steps to promote the licensing objectives 

8.41 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to the 
statement of licensing policy for their area. They must also be aware of the expectations 
of the licensing authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that are 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate knowledge 
of their local area when describing the steps they propose to take to promote the 
licensing objectives. Licensing authorities and responsible authorities are expected to 
publish information about what is meant by the promotion of the licensing objectives and 
to ensure that applicants can readily access advice about these matters. However, 
applicants are also expected to undertake their own enquiries about the area in which 
the premises are situated to inform the content of the application. 

8.42 Applicants are, in particular, expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to 
demonstrate, when setting out the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing 
objectives, that they understand: 

Annex G

Page 67



56 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

•  the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder 
hotspots, proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas where children may 
congregate; 

•  any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable activities; and 
•  any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary 

schemes including local taxi-marshalling schemes, street pastors and other 
schemes) which may help to mitigate potential risks. 

8.43 Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on how they 
will manage any potential risks. Where specific policies apply in the area (for example, a 
cumulative impact policy), applicants are also expected to demonstrate an 
understanding of how the policy impacts on their application; any measures they will 
take to mitigate the impact; and why they consider the application should be an 
exception to the policy. 

8.44 It is expected that enquiries about the locality will assist applicants when determining 
the steps that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. For example, 
premises with close proximity to residential premises should consider what effect this 
will have on their smoking, noise management and dispersal policies to ensure the 
promotion of the public nuisance objective. Applicants must consider all factors which 
may be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives, and where there are no 
known concerns, acknowledge this in their application. 

8.45 The majority of information which applicants will require should be available in the 
licensing policy statement in the area. Other publicly available sources which may be of 
use to applicants include: 

•  the Crime Mapping website; 
•  Neighbourhood Statistics websites; 
•  websites or publications by local responsible authorities; 
•  websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and 
•  on-line mapping tools. 

8.46 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before 
formally submitting their application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert 
advice on local issues that should be taken into consideration when making an 
application. Licensing authorities may wish to encourage co-operation between 
applicants, responsible authorities and, where relevant, local residents and businesses 
before applications are submitted in order to minimise the scope for disputes to arise. 

8.47 Applicants are expected to provide licensing authorities with sufficient information in this 
section to determine the extent to which their proposed steps are appropriate to 
promote the licensing objectives in the local area. Applications must not be based on 
providing a set of standard conditions to promote the licensing objectives and applicants 
are expected to make it clear why the steps they are proposing are appropriate for the 
premises. 

8.48 All parties are expected to work together in partnership to ensure that the licensing 
objectives are promoted collectively. Where there are no disputes, the steps that 
applicants propose to take to promote the licensing objectives, as set out in the 
operating schedule, will very often translate directly into conditions that will be attached 

Annex G

Page 68



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 57 

to premises licences with the minimum of fuss. 

8.49 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote one 
or more of the licensing objectives, for example, because they are adequately covered 
by other existing legislation. It is however important that all operating schedules should 
be precise and clear about the measures that are proposed to promote each of the 
licensing objectives. 

Variations 

Introduction 

8.50 Where a premises licence holder wishes to amend the licence, the 2003 Act in most 
cases permits an application to vary to be made rather than requiring an application for 
a new premises licence. The process to be followed will depend on the nature of the 
variation and its potential impact on the licensing objectives. Applications to vary can be 
made electronically via GOV.UK or by means of the licensing authority’s own electronic 

facility following the procedures set out in Chapter 8 above. 

Simplified processes 

8.51 There are simplified processes for making applications, or notifying changes, in the 
following cases: 

•  a change of the name or address of someone named in the licence (section 33); 
•  an application to vary the licence to specify a new individual as the designated 

premises supervisor (DPS) (section 37); 
•  a request to be removed as the designated premises supervisor (section 41); 
•  an application by a licence holder in relation to community premises authorised to sell 

alcohol to remove the usual mandatory conditions set out in sections 19(2) and 19(3) 
of the 2003 Act concerning the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence 
holder and the need for a DPS who holds a personal licence (sections 25A and 41D); 
and 

•  an application for minor variation of a premises licence (sections 41A to 41C) or club 
premises certificate (sections 86A to 86C). 

8.52 If an application to specify a new DPS or to remove the mandatory conditions 
concerning the supervision of alcohol sales is made electronically via GOV.UK or the 
licensing authority’s own electronic facility, the authority must notify the police no later 

than the first working day after the application is given. 

8.53 Where a simplified process requires the applicant (if they are not also the personal 
licence holder) to copy the application to the licence holder for information, this will 
apply regardless of whether the application is made in writing or electronically. 
Otherwise the general guidance set out above (paragraphs 8.21 to 8.28) on electronic 
applications applies. 

Minor variations process 

8.54 Variations to premises licences or club premises certificates that could not impact 
adversely on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified ‘minor variations’ 

process. Under this process, the applicant is not required to advertise the variation in a 
newspaper or circular, or copy it to responsible authorities. However, they must display 

Annex G

Page 69



58 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

it on a white notice (to distinguish it from the blue notice used for full variations and new 
applications). The notice must comply with the requirements set out in regulation 26A of 
the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 
2005. In accordance with those regulations, the notice must be displayed for a period of 
ten working days starting on the working day after the minor variation application was 
given to the licensing authority. 

8.55 On receipt of an application for a minor variation, the licensing authority must consider 
whether the variation could impact adversely on the licensing objectives. It is recommended 
that decisions on minor variations should be delegated to licensing officers. 

8.56 In considering the application, the licensing authority must consult relevant responsible 
authorities (whether the application is made in writing or electronically) if there is any 
doubt about the impact of the variation on the licensing objectives and they need 
specialist advice, and take their views into account in reaching a decision. The 
application is unlikely to be relevant to all responsible authorities.  

8.57 The licensing authority must also consider any relevant representations received from 
other persons within the time limit referred to below. As stated earlier in this Guidance, 
representations are only relevant if they clearly relate to the likely effect of the grant of 
the variation on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives; representations 
must be confined to the subject matter of the variation. In the case of minor variations, 
there is no right to a hearing (as for a full variation or new application), but licensing 
authorities must take any representations into account in arriving at a decision. 

8.58 Other persons have ten working days from the ‘initial day’, that is to say, the day after 

the application is received by the licensing authority, to submit representations. The 
licensing authority must therefore wait until this period has elapsed before determining 
the application, but must do so at the latest within 15 working days, beginning on the 
first working day after the authority received the application, with effect either that the 
minor variation is granted or the application is refused. 

8.59 If the licensing authority fails to respond to the applicant within 15 working days (see 
section 193 of the 2003 Act for the definition of working day), the application will be 
treated as refused and the authority must return the fee to the applicant forthwith. 
However, the licensing authority and the applicant may agree instead that the 
undetermined application should be treated as a new application and that the fee 
originally submitted will be treated as a fee for the new application. 

8.60 Where an application is refused and is then re-submitted through the full variation 
process, the full 28 day notification period will apply from the date the new application is 
received and applicants should advertise the application and copy it to all responsible 
authorities (in accordance with the regulations applicable to full variations). 

8.61 Minor variations will generally fall into four categories: minor changes to the structure or 
layout of premises; small adjustments to licensing hours; the removal of out of date, 
irrelevant or unenforceable conditions or addition of volunteered conditions; and the 
addition of certain licensable activities. In all cases the overall test is whether the 
proposed variation could impact adversely on any of the four licensing objectives. 

Changes to structure/layout 

8.62 Many small variations to layout will have no adverse impact on the licensing objectives. 

Annex G

Page 70



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 59 

However, changes to layout should be referred to the full variation process if they could 
potentially have an adverse impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives, for 
example by: 

•  increasing the capacity for drinking on the premises; 
•  affecting access between the public part of the premises and the rest of the premises 

or the street or public way, for instance, block emergency exits or routes to 
emergency exits; or 

•  impeding the effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic 
lobby. 

8.63 Licensing authorities will also need to consider the combined effect of a series of 
applications for successive small layout changes (for example, as part of a rolling 
refurbishment of premises) which in themselves may not be significant, but which 
cumulatively may impact adversely on the licensing objectives. This emphasises the 
importance of having an up-to-date copy of the premises plan available. 

8.64 An application to remove a licensable activity should normally be approved as a minor 
variation. Variations to add the sale by retail or supply of alcohol to a licence are 
excluded from the minor variations process and must be treated as full variations in all 
cases. 

8.65 For other licensable activities, licensing authorities will need to consider each 
application on a case by case basis and in light of any licence conditions put forward by 
the applicant. 

Licensing hours 

8.66 Variations to the following are excluded from the minor variations process and must be 
treated as full variations in all cases: 

•  to extend licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off 
the premises between the hours of 23.00 and 07.00; or 

•  to increase the amount of time on any day during which alcohol may be sold or 
supplied for consumption on or off the premises. 

8.67 Applications to reduce licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol or, in some 
cases, to move (without increasing) the licensed hours between 07.00 and 23.00 will 
normally be processed as minor variations. 

8.68 Applications to vary the time during which other licensable activities take place should 
be considered on a case-by-case basis with reference to the likely impact on the 
licensing objectives. 

Licensing conditions  

a) Imposed conditions 

8.69 Licensing authorities cannot impose their own conditions on the licence through the 
minor variations process. If the licensing officer considers that the proposed variation 
would impact adversely on the licensing objectives unless conditions are imposed, they 
should refuse it. 

Annex G

Page 71



60 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

b) Volunteered conditions 

8.70 Applicants may volunteer conditions as part of the minor variation process. These 
conditions may arise from their own risk assessment of the variation, or from informal 
discussions with responsible authorities or the licensing authority. 

8.71 For instance, there may be circumstances when the licence holder and a responsible 
authority such as the police or environmental health authority, agree that a new condition 
should be added to the licence (for example, that a nightclub adds the provision of late 
night refreshment to its licence to ensure a longer period of dispersal). Such a change 
would not normally impact adversely on the licensing objectives and could be expected to 
promote them by preventing crime and disorder or public nuisance. In these 
circumstances, the minor variation process may provide a less costly and onerous means 
of amending the licence than a review, with no risk to the licensing objectives. However, 
this route should only be used where the agreed variations are minor and the licence 
holder and the responsible authority have come to a genuine agreement. The licensing 
authority should be alive to any attempts to pressure licence or certificate holders into 
agreeing to new conditions where there is no evidence of a problem at the premises and, 
if there is any doubt, should discuss this with the relevant parties. 

c) Amending or removing existing conditions 

8.72 However, there may be some circumstances when the minor variation process is 
appropriate. Premises may change over time and the circumstances that originally led 
to the condition being attached or volunteered may no longer apply. For example, there 
may be no need for door supervision if a bar has been converted into a restaurant. 
Equally some embedded conditions may no longer apply.  

8.73 Changes in legislation may invalidate certain conditions. Although the conditions do not 
have to be removed from the licence, licence holders and licensing authorities may 
agree that this is desirable to clarify the licence holder’s legal obligations. There may 

also be cases where it is appropriate to revise the wording of a condition that is unclear 
or unenforceable. This would be acceptable as a minor variation as long as the purpose 
of the condition and its intended effect remain unchanged. Such a change could be 
expected to promote the licensing objectives by making it easier for the licence holder to 
understand and comply with the condition and easier for the licensing authority to 
enforce it. 

Full variations process 

8.74 Any other changes to the licence or certificate require an application to vary under 
sections 34 or 84 of the 2003 Act. 

8.75 Licensing authorities may wish to consider whether there is any likely impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in deciding whether there is a need for an 
application to vary in relation to features which are not required to be shown on the plan 
under section 17 of the 2003 Act, but have nevertheless been included, for example, 
moveable furniture (altering the position of tables and chairs) or beer gardens 
(installation of a smoking shelter that will not affect the use of exits or escape routes). 

8.76 However, it should be noted that a section 34 application cannot be used to vary a 
licence so as to: 

Annex G

Page 72



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 61 

•  extend a time limited licence; 
•  transfer the licence from one holder to another; or 
•  transfer the licence from one premises to another. 

8.77 If an applicant wishes to make these types of changes to the premises licence, the 
applicant should make a new premises licence application under section 17 of the 2003 
Act; or, to transfer the licence to another holder, an application under section 42 of the 
2003 Act. 

Relaxation of opening hours for local, national and international 
occasions 

8.78 It should normally be possible for applicants for premises licences and club premises 
certificates to anticipate special occasions which occur regularly each year – such as 
bank holidays and St. George’s or St. Patrick’s Day – and to include appropriate 
opening hours in their operating schedules. Similarly, temporary event notices should be 
sufficient to cover other events which take place at premises that do not have a 
premises licence or club certificate. 

8.79 However, exceptional events of local, national or international significance may arise 
which could not have been anticipated when the application was first made. In these 
circumstances, the Secretary of State may make a licensing hours order to allow 
premises to open for specified, generally extended, hours on these special occasions. 
This avoids the need for large numbers of applications to vary premises licences and 
club premises certificates. Typical events might include a one-off local festival or a 
Royal Jubilee. 

Advertising applications 

8.80  The requirements governing the advertisement of applications for the grant, variation or 
review of premises licences and club premises certificates are contained in Regulations 
25 and 26 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) 
Regulations 2005 which are published on the Government’s legislation website. 

8.80 Applicants are required to: 

•  publish a notice in a local newspaper or, if there is none, in a local newsletter, circular 
or similar document circulating in the area in which the premises are situated; and 

•  display a brief summary of the application on an A4 (or larger) size notice, on pale 
blue paper in a prominent position immediately on or outside the premises for at least 
28 consecutive days (starting on the day after the day on which the application was 
given to the relevant licensing authority). The notice must be printed legibly in black 
ink or typed in black in size 16 font or larger. 

•  ensure that the above notices contain the name of the applicant, postal addresses of 
the premises (or if there is no postal address a description of the premises sufficient 
to enable the location to be identified), relevant licensing authority and the date by 
which any representations in relation to the application need to be made to the 
licensing authority. They should also contain a statement of the relevant licensable 
activities or relevant qualifying club activities that it is proposed will be carried on at 
the premises, or in the case of an application to vary a premises licence or a club 
premises certificate the notices shall briefly describe the proposed variation. 

Annex G

Page 73



62 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

8.81 It is the responsibility of the applicant for putting the notice up, however licensing 
authorities should consider where the signs should be placed and advise the applicant 
where appropriate, to ensure people will see them, in particular if an application is likely 
to be of interest to the public. As prescribed in regulations, licensing authorities must 
also place a notice on their website outlining key details of the application as set out in 
regulations, including: 

•  the name of the applicant or club; 
•  the postal address of the premises or club premises; 
•  the postal address and, where applicable, the internet address where the relevant 

licensing authority’s register is kept and where and when the record of the application 

may be inspected; 
•  the date by which representations from responsible authorities or other persons 

should be received and how these representations should be made; and 
•  that it is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in connection 

with an application and the maximum fine for which a person is liable on summary 
conviction for the offence. 

8.82 The summary of the application should set out matters such as the proposed licensable 
activities and the proposed hours of opening and should be clearly displayed for the 
period during which representations may be made, together with information about 
where the details of the application may be viewed. 

8.83 Licensing authorities in Wales should consider encouraging applicants to provide details 
in the alternative language (Welsh or English) to that of the main advertisement itself 
where the application may be viewed. Therefore, if an applicant publishes a notice in 
English they should be encouraged to provide a statement in Welsh as to where the 
application may be viewed, and vice versa. This would allow the reader of the notice to 
make enquiries to the licensing authority and find out the nature of the application. 

8.84 Licensing authorities in Wales are also required to publish key information from licence 
applications in Welsh on their websites. 

8.85 In the case of applications for premises licences involving internet or mail order sales, 
notices should be conspicuously displayed at the place where the alcohol is 
appropriated to the contract. 

8.86 A vessel which is not permanently moored or berthed is treated as if it were a premises 
situated in a place where it is usually moored or berthed. The newspaper advertisement 
notice for such a vessel would need to be in relation to this place (where it is usually 
moored or berthed) and there is no provision requiring such advertising in other areas, 
for instance, if the vessel journeys through other licensing authority areas. 

8.87 Arrangements should be put in place by the licensing authority for other parties to view 
a record of the application in the licensing register as described in Schedule 3 to the 
2003 Act. Charges made for copies of the register should not exceed the cost of 
preparing such copies. Licensing authorities may wish to conduct random and 
unannounced visits to premises to confirm that notices have been clearly displayed and 
include relevant and accurate information. 

Annex G

Page 74



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 63 

Applications to change the designated premises supervisors 

8.88 Chapter 4 covers designated premises supervisors and applications to vary a premises 
licence covering sales of alcohol by specifying a new designated premises supervisor. 
Chapter 4 covers applications by community premises to disapply the usual mandatory 
conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act concerning the authorisation of 
alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a designated premises 
supervisor who holds a personal licence. 

Provisional statements 

8.89 Where premises are being or are about to be constructed, extended or otherwise 
altered for the purpose of being used for one or more licensable activities, investors may 
be unwilling to commit funds unless they have some assurance that a premises licence 
covering the desired licensable activities would be granted for the premises when the 
building work is completed. 

8.90 The 2003 Act does not define the words “otherwise altered”, but the alteration must 
relate to the purpose of being used for one or more licensable activities. 

8.91 Any person falling within section 16 of the 2003 Act can apply for a premises licence 
before new premises are constructed, extended or changed. This would be possible 
where clear plans of the proposed structure exist and the applicant is in a position to 
complete an operating schedule including details of: 

•  the activities to take place there; 
•  the time at which such activities will take place; 
•  the proposed hours of opening; 
•  where the applicant wishes the licence to have effect for a limited period, that period; 
•  the steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives; and 
•  where the sale of alcohol is involved, whether supplies are proposed to be for 

consumption on or off the premises (or both) and the name of the designated 
premises supervisor the applicant wishes to specify. 

8.92 In such cases, the licensing authority would include in the licence the date upon which it 
would come into effect. A provisional statement will normally only be required when the 
information described above is not available. 

8.93 The 2003 Act therefore provides for a person, if an individual aged 18 or over, who has 
an interest in the premises to apply for a “provisional statement”. This will not be time 
limited, but the longer the delay before an application for a premises licence is made, 
the more likely it is that there will be material changes and that the licensing authority 
will accept representations. “Person” in this context includes a business. 

8.94 When a hearing is held, the licensing authority must decide whether, if the premises 
were constructed or altered in the way proposed in the schedule of works and if a 
premises licence was sought for those premises, it would consider it appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives to: 

•  attach conditions to the licence; 
•  rule out any of the licensable activities applied for; 
•  refuse to specify the person nominated as premises supervisor; or 

Annex G

Page 75



64 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

•  reject the application. 

It will then issue the applicant with a provisional statement setting out the details of that 
decision together with its reasons. 

8.95 The licensing authority must copy the provisional statement to each person who made 
relevant representations, and the chief officer of police for the area in which the premises 
is situated. The licensing authority should give full and comprehensive reasons for its 
decision. This is important in anticipation of an appeal by any aggrieved party. 

8.96 When a person applies for a premises licence in respect of premises (or part of the 
premises or premises which are substantially the same) for which a provisional 
statement has been made, representations by responsible authorities and other persons 
will be excluded in certain circumstances. These are where: 

•  the application for a licence is in the same form as the licence described in the 
provisional statement; 

•  the work in the schedule of works has been satisfactorily completed; 
•  given the information provided in the application for a provisional statement, the 

responsible authority or other person could have made the same, or substantially the 
same, representations about the application then but failed to do so without 
reasonable excuse; and 

•  there has been no material change in the circumstances relating either to the 
premises or to the area in the proximity of those premises since the provisional 
statement was made. 

8.97 Any decision of the licensing authority on an application for a provisional statement will 
not relieve an applicant of the need to apply for planning permission, building control 
approval of the building work, or in some cases both planning permission and building 
control. 

8.98 A provisional statement may not be sought or given for a vessel, a vehicle or a 
moveable structure (see section 189 of the 2003 Act). 

Transfers of premises licences 

8.99 The 2003 Act provides for any person who may apply for a premises licence, which 
includes a business, to apply for a premises licence to be transferred to them. Where 
the application is made in writing, the applicant must give notice of the application to the 
chief officer of police in all cases, and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) if the 
licence authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night refreshment. Where it is 
made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s electronic facility, the 

licensing authority must notify the police and the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) no later than the first working day after the application is given. However, 
the responsibility to notify the DPS remains with the applicant. Otherwise the general 
guidance on electronic applications set out in paragraphs 8.21 to 8.28 applies. 

8.100 In the vast majority of cases, it is expected that a transfer will be a very simple 
administrative process. Section 43 of the 2003 Act provides a mechanism which allows 
the transfer to come into immediate interim effect as soon as the licensing authority 
receives it, until it is formally determined or withdrawn. This is to ensure that there should 
be no interruption to normal business at the premises. If the police or the Home Office 

Annex G

Page 76



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 65 

(Immigration Enforcement) raise no objection about the application, the licensing authority 
must transfer the licence in accordance with the application, amend the licence 
accordingly and return it to the new holder. 

8.101 In exceptional circumstances where the chief officer of police believes the transfer may 
undermine the crime prevention objective, the police may object to the transfer. The 
Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) may object if it considers that granting the 
transfer would be prejudicial to the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. 
Such objections are expected to be rare and arise because the police or the Home 
Office (Immigration Enforcement) have evidence that the business or individuals 
seeking to hold the licence, or businesses or individuals linked to such persons, are 
involved in crime (or disorder) or employing illegal workers. 

8.102 Such objections (and therefore such hearings) should only arise in truly exceptional 
circumstances. If the licensing authority believes that the police or the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) are using this mechanism to vet transfer applicants routinely 
and to seek hearings as a fishing expedition to inquire into applicants’ backgrounds, it is 

expected that it would raise the matter immediately with the chief officer of police or the 
Home Office (Immigration Enforcement). 

Interim authorities 

8.103 The 2003 Act provides special arrangements for the continuation of permissions under a 
premises licence when the holder of a licence dies suddenly, becomes bankrupt, 
mentally incapable or ceases to be entitled to work in the UK. In the normal course of 
events, the licence would lapse in such circumstances. However, there may also be 
some time before, for example, the deceased person’s estate can be dealt with or an 

administrative receiver appointed. This could have a damaging effect on those with 
interests in the premises, such as an owner, lessor or employees working at the 
premises in question; and could bring unnecessary disruption to customers’ plans. The 

2003 Act therefore provides for the licence to be capable of being reinstated in a 
discrete period of time in certain circumstances. 

8.104 These circumstances arise only where a premises licence has lapsed owing to the 
death, incapacity or insolvency of the holder or where the holder ceases to be entitled to 
work in the UK. In such circumstances, an “interim authority” notice may be given to the 

licensing authority within 28 consecutive days beginning the day after the licence 
lapsed. Where applications are made in writing, the applicant must give notice of the 
application to the chief officer of police in all cases, and the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) if the licence authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night 
refreshment. If an application is made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing 
authority’s electronic facility, the licensing authority must notify the police and the Home 
Office (Immigration Enforcement) no later than the first working day after the notice is 
given. 

8.105 An interim notice may only be given either by a person with a prescribed interest in the 
premises as set out in the regulations made under the 2003 Act (which may be viewed 
on www.legislation.gov.uk, the Government’s legislation website); or by a person 

connected to the former holder of the licence (normally a personal representative of the 
former holder; or a person with power of attorney; or where someone has become 

Annex G

Page 77



66 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

insolvent, that person’s insolvency practitioner). The person giving the interim authority 
notice must be entitled to work in the UK. 

8.106 The effect of giving the notice is to reinstate the premises licence as if the person giving 
the notice is the holder of the licence and thereby allow licensable activities to continue 
to take place pending a formal application for transfer. The maximum period for which 
an interim authority notice may have effect is three months. 

8.107 The interim authority notice ceases to have effect unless, by the end of the initial period 
of 28 consecutive days, a copy of the notice has been given to the chief officer of police 
and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement). Within two working days of receiving 
the copy, and if satisfied that in the exceptional circumstances of the case failure to 
cancel the interim authority would undermine the crime prevention objective, the police 
may give a notice to that effect to the licensing authority. Similarly, the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) may give a notice to the licensing authority if satisfied that 
the exceptional circumstances of the case are such that failure to cancel the interim 
authority would undermine the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises.  In 
such circumstances, the licensing authority must hold a hearing to consider the 
objection notice and cancel the interim authority notice if it decides that it is appropriate 
to do so for the promotion of the crime prevention objective. 

8.108 Licensing authorities should be alert to the need to consider the objection quickly. Under 
section 50 of the 2003 Act, where the premises licence lapses (because of death, 
incapacity or insolvency of the holder or because the holder is no longer entitled to work 
in the UK) or by its surrender, but no interim authority notice has effect, a person who 
may apply for the grant of a premises licence under section 16(1) may apply within 28 
consecutive days of the lapse for the transfer of the licence to them with immediate effect 
pending the determination of the application. This will result in the licence being reinstated 
from the point at which the transfer application was received by the licensing authority. 
Where the application is made in writing, the person applying for the transfer must copy 
their application to the chief officer of police and the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement). If the application is made electronically the licensing authority must copy 
the application to the police and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement). 

Right of freeholders etc to be notified of licensing matters 

8.109 A person (which will include a business or company) with a property interest in any 
premises situated in the licensing authority’s area may give notice of their interest to the 

authority using a prescribed form and on payment of the relevant fee. The application 
may be made in writing or electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own 
facility, in which case the guidance at paragraphs 8.21 to 8.28 applies. Details of fees 
and forms are available on the GOV.UK website. It is entirely at the discretion of such 
persons whether they choose to register or not. It is not a legal requirement. Those who 
may take advantage of this arrangement include the freeholder or leaseholder, a legal 
mortgagee in respect of the premises, a person in occupation of the premises or any 
other person prescribed by the Secretary of State. 

8.110 The notice will have effect for 12 months but a new notice can be given every year. 
While the notice has effect, if any change relating to the premises concerned has been 
made to the licensing register (which the licensing authority has a duty to keep under 

Annex G

Page 78



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 67 

section 8 of the 2003 Act), the licensing authority must notify the person who registered 
an interest of the matter to which the change relates. The person will also be notified of 
their right under section 8 to request a copy of the information contained in any entry in 
the register. In cases relating to interim authority notices (see above), it is important that 
such communications are dealt with promptly. 

 

Annex G

Page 79



68 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

9. Determining applications 
General 

9.1 When a licensing authority receives an application for a new premises licence or an 
application to vary an existing premises licence, it must determine whether the 
application has been made in accordance with section 17 of the 2003 Act, and in 
accordance with regulations made under sections 17(3) to (6), 34, 42, 54 and 55 of the 
2003 Act. It must similarly determine applications for the grant of club premises 
certificates made in accordance with section 71 of the 2003 Act, and in accordance with 
regulations made under sections 71(4) to (7), 84, 91 and 92 of the 2003 Act. This 
means that the licensing authority must consider among other things whether the 
application has been properly advertised in accordance with those regulations. 

Where no representations are made 

9.2 A hearing is not required where an application has been properly made and no 
responsible authority or other person has made a relevant representation or where 
representations are made and subsequently withdrawn. In these cases, the licensing 
authority must grant the application in the terms sought, subject only to conditions which 
are consistent with the operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions under the 
2003 Act. This should be undertaken as a simple administrative process by the licensing 
authority’s officials who should replicate the proposals contained in the operating 

schedule to promote the licensing objectives in the form of clear and enforceable licence 
conditions. Licensing authorities should not hold hearings for uncontested applications, 
for example in situations where representations have been made and conditions have 
subsequently been agreed. 

Where representations are made 

9.3 Where a representation concerning the licensing objectives is made by a responsible 
authority about a proposed operating schedule and it is relevant (see paragraphs 9.4 to 
9.10 below), the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will also be engaged 

if another person makes relevant representations to the licensing authority, which are 
also not frivolous or vexatious (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10 below). Relevant 
representations can be made in opposition to, or in support of, an application and can 
be made by any individual, body or business that has grounds to do so. 

Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations 

9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on 

the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. For example, a representation 
from a local businessperson about the commercial damage caused by competition from 
new licensed premises would not be relevant. On the other hand, a representation by a 
businessperson that nuisance caused by new premises would deter customers from 
entering the local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant to prevent that 
nuisance were inadequate, would be relevant. In other words, representations should 
relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises on the objectives. 
For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be confined to 

Annex G

Page 80



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 69 

the subject matter of the variation. There is no requirement for a responsible authority or 
other person to produce a recorded history of problems at premises to support their 
representations, and in fact this would not be possible for new premises. 

9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other than a 
representation from responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on the basis of what 
might ordinarily be considered to be vexatious or frivolous. A representation may be 
considered to be vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or 
annoyance, whether to a competitor or other person, without reasonable cause or 
justification. Vexatious circumstances may arise because of disputes between rival 
businesses and local knowledge will therefore be invaluable in considering such 
matters. Licensing authorities can consider the main effect of the representation, and 
whether any inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to 
be proportionate. 

9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. 
Frivolous representations would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in 
relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate. 

9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these 
grounds may lodge a complaint through the local authority’s corporate complaints 
procedure. A person may also challenge the authority’s decision by way of judicial 

review. 

9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether representations are 
frivolous, vexatious or relevant to the licensing objectives on the basis of any political 
judgement. This may be difficult for councillors who receive complaints from residents 
within their own wards. If consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to the 
recommendation in this Guidance, an assessment should be prepared by officials for 
consideration by the sub- committee before any decision is taken that necessitates a 
hearing. Any councillor who considers that their own interests are such that they are 
unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify themselves. 

9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of 
a representation should be given to the person making that representation. The 
subsequent hearing would then provide an opportunity for the person or body making 
the representation to amplify and clarify it. 

9.10 Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites about how any 
person can make representations to them. 

The role of responsible authorities 

9.11 Responsible authorities under the 2003 Act are automatically notified of all new 
applications. While all responsible authorities may make representations regarding 
applications for licences and club premises certificates and full variation applications, it 
is the responsibility of each responsible authority to determine when they have 
appropriate grounds to do so. 

  

Annex G

Page 81



70 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

9.12 Each responsible authority will be an expert in their respective field, and in some cases 
it is likely that a particular responsible authority will be the licensing authority’s main 
source of advice in relation to a particular licensing objective. For example, the police 
have a key role in managing the night-time economy and should have good working 
relationships with those operating in their local area5. The police should usually 
therefore be the licensing authority’s main source of advice on matters relating to the 

promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective. However, any responsible 
authority under the 2003 Act may make representations with regard to any of the 
licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. Licensing 
authorities must therefore consider all relevant representations from responsible 
authorities carefully, even where the reason for a particular responsible authority’s 

interest or expertise in the promotion of a particular objective may not be immediately 
apparent. However, it remains incumbent on all responsible authorities to ensure that 
their representations can withstand the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a 
hearing. 

Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities 

9.13 Licensing authorities are included in the list of responsible authorities. A similar 
framework exists in the Gambling Act 2005. The 2003 Act does not require responsible 
authorities to make representations about applications for the grant of premises licences 
or to take any other steps in respect of different licensing processes. It is, therefore, for 
the licensing authority to determine when it considers it appropriate to act in its capacity 
as a responsible authority; the licensing authority should make this decision in 
accordance with its duties under section 4 of the 2003 Act. 

9.14 Licensing authorities are not expected to act as responsible authorities on behalf of 
other parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community groups) 
although there are occasions where the authority may decide to do so. Such parties can 
make relevant representations to the licensing authority in their own right, and it is 
reasonable for the licensing authority to expect them to make representations 
themselves where they are reasonably able to do so. However, if these parties have 
failed to take action and the licensing authority is aware of relevant grounds to make a 
representation, it may choose to act in its capacity as responsible authority. 

9.15 It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to expect that other responsible authorities 
should intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other 
responsible authority. For example, the police should make representations where the 
representations are based on concerns about crime and disorder. Likewise, it is 
reasonable to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions to 
make representations where there are concerns about noise nuisance. Each 
responsible authority has equal standing under the 2003 Act and may act independently 
without waiting for representations from any other responsible authority. 

9.16 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities to act as responsible authorities as a means 
of early intervention; they may do so where they consider it appropriate without having 
to wait for representations from other responsible authorities. For example, the licensing 

                                                
5 Police and Crime Commissioners are expected to have a central role working in partnership with local authorities, enforcement 
bodies and other local partners to decide on what action is needed to tackle alcohol- related crime and disorder in their areas. 
However, the Chief Officer of Police remains the named responsible authority under the 2003 Act. 

Annex G

Page 82



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 71 

authority may (in a case where it has applied a cumulative impact policy) consider that 
granting a new licence application will add to the cumulative impact of licensed 
premises in its area and therefore decide to make representations to that effect, without 
waiting for any other person to do so. 

9.17 In cases where a licensing authority is also acting as responsible authority in relation to 
the same process, it is important to achieve a separation of responsibilities within the 
authority to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. In such cases 
licensing determinations will be made by the licensing committee or sub committee 
comprising elected members of the authority (although they are advised by a licensing 
officer). Therefore, a separation is achieved by allocating distinct functions (i.e. those of 
licensing authority and responsible authority) to different officials within the authority. 

9.18 In these cases, licensing authorities should allocate the different responsibilities to 
different licensing officers or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper 
separation of responsibilities. The officer advising the licensing committee (i.e. the 
authority acting in its capacity as the licensing authority) must be a different person from 
the officer who is acting for the responsible authority. The officer acting for the 
responsible authority should not be involved in the licensing decision process and 
should not discuss the merits of the case with those involved in making the 
determination by the licensing authority. For example, discussion should not take place 
between the officer acting as responsible authority and the officer handling the licence 
application regarding the merits of the case. Communication between these officers in 
relation to the case should remain professional and consistent with communication with 
other responsible authorities. Representations, subject to limited exceptions, must be 
made in writing. It is for the licensing authority to determine how the separate roles are 
divided to ensure an appropriate separation of responsibilities. This approach may not 
be appropriate for all licensing authorities and many authorities may already have 
processes in place to effectively achieve the same outcome. 

9.19 Smaller licensing authorities, where such a separation of responsibilities is more 
difficult, may wish to involve officials from outside the licensing department to ensure a 
separation of responsibilities. However, these officials should still be officials employed 
by the authority. 

Health bodies acting as responsible authorities 

9.20 Where a local authority’s Director of Public Health in England (DPH)6 or Local Health 
Board (LHB) (in Wales) exercises its functions as a responsible authority, it should have 
sufficient knowledge of the licensing policy and health issues to ensure it is able to fulfil 
those functions. If the authority wishes to make representations, the DPH or LHB will 
need to decide how best to gather and coordinate evidence from other bodies which 
exercise health functions in the area, such as emergency departments and ambulance 
services. 

9.21 Health bodies may hold information which other responsible authorities do not, but 
which would assist a licensing authority in exercising its functions. This information may 

                                                
6 This change was made as a result of the commencement of measures in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which amended 
the 2003 Act and further provision in the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Arrangements, Care Trusts, Public 
Health and Local Healthwatch) Regulations 2012. 

Annex G

Page 83



72 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

be used by the health body to make representations in its own right or to support 
representations by other responsible authorities, such as the police. Such 
representations can potentially be made on the grounds of all four licensing objectives. 
Perhaps the most obvious example is where drunkenness leads to accidents and 
injuries from violence, resulting in attendances at emergency departments and the use 
of ambulance services. Some of these incidents will be reported to the police, but many 
will not. Such information will often be relevant to the public safety and crime and 
disorder objectives. 

9.22 However, health bodies are encouraged to make representations in respect of any of 
the four licensing objectives without necessarily seeking views from other responsible 
authorities where they have appropriate evidence to do so. There is also potential for 
health bodies to participate in the licensing process in relation to the protection of 
children from harm. This objective not only concerns the physical safety of children, but 
also their moral and psychological well being. 

9.23 Evidence relating to under 18s alcohol-related emergency department attendance, 
hospital admissions and underage sales of alcohol, could potentially have implications 
for both the protection of children from harm and the crime and disorder objectives. 
Health bodies can provide evidence to lead or support representations in relation to this 
objective. In relation to proxy purchases, data collected by health bodies could be used 
to inform other responsible authorities, including the police and licensing authorities, 
about a prevalence of proxy purchasing in a particular area. For example, the police 
could use this data to tackle instances of ‘shoulder tapping’ (where under 18s approach 

adults to buy alcohol on their behalf) and to suggest measures which retailers might be 
able to take to ensure, as far as possible, that they are not knowingly selling alcohol to 
an adult who is buying on behalf of a person aged under 18. Although less obvious, 
health bodies may also have a role to play in the prevention of public nuisance where its 
effect is prejudicial to health and where they hold relevant data. 

9.24 DPHs and LHBs will need to consider how to collect anonymised information about 
incidents that relate to specific premises or premises in a particular area (for example, a 
cumulative impact zone). Many areas have already developed procedures for local 
information sharing to tackle violence, which could provide useful evidence to support 
representations. The College of Emergency Medicine has issued guidelines for 
information sharing to reduce community violence which recommends that data about 
assault victims should be collected upon admission to emergency departments, 
including the date, time and location of the assault – i.e. the name of the pub, club or 
street where the incident occurred. Sometimes, it may be possible to link ambulance 
callouts or attendances at emergency departments to irresponsible practices at specific 
premises, such as serving alcohol to people who are intoxicated or targeting promotions 
involving unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol at particular groups. 

  

Annex G

Page 84



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 73 

Home Office Immigration Enforcement acting as a responsible 
authority   

9.25 The Immigration Act 2016 made the Secretary of State a responsible authority in 
respect of premises licensed to sell alcohol or late night refreshment with effect from 6 
April 2017. In effect this conveys the role of responsible authority to Home Office 
Immigration Enforcement who exercises the powers on the Secretary of State’s behalf. 

When Immigration Enforcement exercises its powers as a responsible authority it will do 
so in respect of the prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective because it is 
concerned with the prevention of illegal working or immigration offences more broadly.  

Disclosure of personal details of persons making representations 

9.26 Where a notice of a hearing is given to an applicant, the licensing authority is required 
under the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 to provide the applicant with 
copies of the relevant representations that have been made. 

9.27 In exceptional circumstances, persons making representations to the licensing authority 
may be reluctant to do so because of fears of intimidation or violence if their personal 
details, such as name and address, are divulged to the applicant. 

9.28 Where licensing authorities consider that the person has a genuine and well-founded 
fear of intimidation and may be deterred from making a representation on this basis, 
they may wish to consider alternative approaches. 

9.29 For instance, they could advise the persons to provide the relevant responsible authority 
with details of how they consider that the licensing objectives are being undermined so 
that the responsible authority can make representations if appropriate and justified. 

9.30 The licensing authority may also decide to withhold some or all of the person’s personal 

details from the applicant, giving only minimal details (such as street name or general 
location within a street). However, withholding such details should only be considered 
where the circumstances justify such action. 

Hearings 

9.31 The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 governing hearings may be found 
on the www.legislation.gov.uk website. If the licensing authority decides that 
representations are relevant, it must hold a hearing to consider them. The need for a 
hearing can only be avoided with the agreement of the licensing authority, where the 
applicant and all of the persons who made relevant representations have given notice to 
the authority that they consider a hearing to be unnecessary. Where this is the case and 
the authority agrees that a hearing is unnecessary, it must forthwith give notice to the 
parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. Notwithstanding those regulatory 
provisions, in cases where the licensing authority believes that a hearing is still 
necessary, it is recommended that the authority should, as soon as possible, provide 
the parties with reasons in writing for the need to hold the hearing. In cases where only 
‘positive’ representations are received, without qualifications, the licensing authority 
should consider whether a hearing is required. To this end, it may wish to notify the 
persons who made representations and give them the opportunity to withdraw those 
representations. This would need to be done in sufficient time before the hearing to 
ensure that parties were not put to unnecessary inconvenience. 

Annex G

Page 85



74 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

9.32 Responsible authorities should try to conclude any discussions with the applicant in 
good time before the hearing. The 2005 Hearings Regulations permit licensing 
authorities to extend a time limit provided for by those Regulations for a specified period 
where it considers this to be necessary in the public interest. For example, if the 
application is amended at the last moment, the licensing committee should consider 
giving other persons time to address the revised application before the hearing 
commences. Where the authority has extended a time limit it must forthwith give a 
notice to the parties involved stating the period of the extension and the reasons for it. 

9.33 The 2005 Hearings Regulations require that representations must be withdrawn 24 
hours before the first day of any hearing. If they are withdrawn after this time, the 
hearing must proceed and the representations may be withdrawn orally at that hearing. 
However, where discussions between an applicant and those making representations 
are taking place and it is likely that all parties are on the point of reaching agreement, 
the licensing authority may wish to use the power given within the hearings regulations 
to extend time limits, if it considers this to be in the public interest. 

9.34 Applicants should be encouraged to contact responsible authorities and others, such as 
local residents, who may be affected by the application before formulating their 
applications so that the mediation process may begin before the statutory time limits 
come into effect after submission of an application. The hearing process must meet the 
requirements of regulations made under the 2003 Act. Where matters arise which are 
not covered by the regulations, licensing authorities may make arrangements as they 
see fit as long as they are lawful. 

9.35 There is no requirement in the 2003 Act for responsible authorities that have made 
representations to attend, but it is generally good practice and assists committees in 
reaching more informed decisions. Where several responsible authorities within a local 
authority have made representations on an application, a single local authority officer 
may represent them at the hearing if the responsible authorities and the licensing 
authority agree. This local authority officer representing other responsible authorities 
may be a licensing officer, but only if this licensing officer is acting as a responsible 
authority on behalf of the licensing authority and has had no role in the licensing 
determination process. This is to ensure that the responsible authorities are represented 
by an independent officer separate from the licensing determination process. 

9.36 As noted in paragraphs 9.13 to 9.19 above, where the licensing officer is acting as a 
responsible authority the relevant steps should be followed to ensure that this individual 
has no role in the decision making process regarding the licensing determination. 

9.37 As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing on the 
steps considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or objectives 
that have given rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into undisputed 
areas. A responsible authority or other person may choose to rely on their written 
representation. They may not add further representations to those disclosed to the 
applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on their existing representation and 
should be allowed sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and practicable limits.  

9.38 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing objectives in the 
overall interests of the local community, the licensing authority must give appropriate 
weight to: 

Annex G

Page 86



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 75 

•  the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 
•  the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 
•  this Guidance; 
•  its own statement of licensing policy. 

9.39 The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the 
conclusion of the hearing (or immediately in certain specified cases) and provide 
reasons to support it. This will be important if there is an appeal by any of the parties. 
Notification of a decision must be accompanied by information on the right of the party 
to appeal. After considering all the relevant issues, the licensing authority may grant the 
application subject to such conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule. 
Any conditions imposed must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives; there is no power for the licensing authority to attach a condition that is 
merely aspirational. For example, conditions may not be attached which relate solely to 
the health of customers rather than their direct physical safety. Any conditions added to 
the licence must be those imposed at the hearing or those agreed when a hearing has 
not been necessary. 

9.40 Alternatively, the licensing authority may refuse the application on the grounds that this 
is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It may also refuse to specify 
a designated premises supervisor and/or only allow certain requested licensable 
activities. In the interests of transparency, the licensing authority should publish 
hearings procedures in full on its website to ensure that those involved have the most 
current information. 

9.41 In the context of variations or minor variations, which may involve structural alteration to 
or change of use of a building, the decision of the licensing authority will not exempt an 
applicant from the need to apply for building control approval, planning permission or 
both of these where appropriate. 

Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives 

9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations should 
be considered on a case-by-case basis. They should take into account any 
representations or objections that have been received from responsible authorities or 
other persons, and representations made by the applicant or premises user as the case 
may be. 

9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being appropriate 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what it is intended to 
achieve. 

9.44 Determination of whether an action or step is appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives requires an assessment of what action or step would be suitable to 
achieve that end. While this does not therefore require a licensing authority to decide 
that no lesser step will achieve the aim, the authority should aim to consider the 
potential burden that the condition would impose on the premises licence holder (such 
as the financial burden due to restrictions on licensable activities) as well as the 
potential benefit in terms of the promotion of the licensing objectives. However, it is 

Annex G

Page 87



76 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

imperative that the authority ensures that the factors which form the basis of its 
determination are limited to consideration of the promotion of the objectives and nothing 
outside those parameters. As with the consideration of licence variations, the licensing 
authority should consider wider issues such as other conditions already in place to 
mitigate potential negative impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives and the 
track record of the business. Further advice on determining what is appropriate when 
imposing conditions on a licence or certificate is provided in Chapter 10. The licensing 
authority is expected to come to its determination based on an assessment of the 
evidence on both the risks and benefits either for or against making the determination. 

Considering cases where licensing and planning applications are 
made simultaneously 

9.45 Where businesses have indicated, when applying for a licence under the 2003 Act, that 
they have also applied for planning permission or that they intend to do so, licensing 
committees and officers should consider discussion with their planning counterparts 
prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and 
scheme designs. 

 

Annex G

Page 88


	Agenda
	 Procedure
	2 Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence - The Leven, High Street, Stokesley
	Committee Report.pdf
	Annex A - Existing licence
	Annex B - Application
	Application form.pdf (p.1-22)
	Plans.pdf (p.23)
	Offered conditions.pdf (p.24-27)

	Annex C - Graham
	Annex D - Mair
	Annex E - Alsop
	Annex F - Policy extract
	Annex G - Guidance (s182)




